New York Journal of Mathematics

New York J. Math. 25 (2019) 1112–1177.

On the relative K-group in the ETNC

Oliver Braunling

ABSTRACT. We consider the Burns–Flach formulation of the equivariant Tamagawa number conjecture (ETNC). In their setup, a Tamagawa number is an element of a relative K-group. We show that this relative group agrees with an ordinary K-group, namely of the category of locally compact topological modules over the order. Its virtual objects are an equivariant Haar measure in a precise sense. We expect that all relative K-groups in the ETNC will have analogous interpretations. At present, we need to restrict to regular orders, e.g. hereditary.

Contents

1.	Introduction	1113
2.	Where does this picture come from?	1115
3.	Categorical framework	1125
4.	Basic decompositions	1130
5.	Vector \mathfrak{A} -modules	1131
6.	Splitting off vector summands	1139
7.	Structure theorems	1144
8.	Injectives and projectives	1147
9.	Isolating the real part	1149
10.	The compactly generated piece	1153
11.	Proof of the main theorem	1157
12.	Equivariant Haar measure	1161
13.	Real and p -adic comparison	1167
14.	Lower bounds for the cardinality	1170
References		1174

Received July 3, 2019.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 19F99; Secondary 11R65 28C10. Key words and phrases. K-theory of exact categories, Equivariant Tamagawa number conjecture, ETNC, locally compact modules.

The author was supported by DFG GK1821 "Cohomological Methods in Geometry" and a Junior Fellowship at the Freiburg Institute for Advanced Studies (FRIAS).

1. Introduction

1.1. What is a Tamagawa number? We assume basic familiarity with the Burns–Flach formulation of the ETNC [BurF01], at least with the introduction. We follow the same notation.

A Tamagawa number – most classically – is a ratio of volumes and as such a positive real number. This concept has undergone wide generalizations, and in the context of the Burns–Flach formulation, it is a value in the relative K-group $K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R})$. In the classical case, $\mathfrak{A} = \mathbb{Z}$, one has a canonical isomorphism

$$K_0(\mathbb{Z},\mathbb{R})\cong\mathbb{R}^{\times}_{>0},$$

and by this identification the interpretation as a volume is still visible. A relative K-group, like the group $K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R})$ here, is defined as the relevant term to complete a long exact sequence; in the case at hand this sequence is

$$\cdots \longrightarrow K_1(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow K_1(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \longrightarrow K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow K_0(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow \cdots$$
 (1.1)

Besides fitting in the right spot, no further interpretation comes with relative K-groups. In this paper, we propose a different viewpoint, where the volume interpretation of $K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R})$ is strengthened. We introduce the category of locally compact topologized right \mathfrak{A} -modules, call it LCA \mathfrak{A} . It turns out to be an exact category, so it comes with its own K-theory groups, its own determinant functors, etc. We prove:

Theorem. Suppose \mathfrak{A} is a regular order in a finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra A. Then there is a canonical long exact sequence

 $\cdots \longrightarrow K_n(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow K_n(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \longrightarrow K_n(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) \longrightarrow K_{n-1}(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow \cdots,$

and for all n, there are canonical isomorphisms

$$K_n(\mathsf{LCA}_\mathfrak{A}) \cong K_{n-1}(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R}).$$

This will be Theorem 11.3. In particular, for n = 1 we obtain the new interpretation $K_1(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) \cong K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R})$. So, when rephrasing the ETNC using this sequence instead, one can get rid of relative K-groups and every term is interpreted as an 'absolute' K-group of a suitable category.

The idea for the above theorem can be explained as follows: By Deligne's work, every exact category has a universal determinant functor to its virtual objects. We shall deduce from computations of Clausen [Cla17] that the universal determinant functor of the category of locally compact abelian (LCA) groups is precisely the Haar measure, see Theorem 12.8. Since classical Tamagawa numbers stem from the Haar measure, one may now speculate that the universal determinant functor of the equivariant counterpart, i.e. LCA groups with an action of \mathfrak{A} (which is exactly our category LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}!), should be the right receptacle for equivariant Tamagawa measures. However, since so far the literature has used the relative K-group $K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R})$ instead, there is no reasonable way to escape the hope that the groups must actually agree.

Our main theorem above shows that this speculation is spot on for regular orders.

We should clarify that our methods are by no means a formal construction transforming any sort of relative K-group into an absolute one. Indeed, our methods work very specifically for the relative K-group with respect to the reals, by exploiting that \mathbb{R} is a locally compact topological field. Although we do not touch on this topic in this paper, variations for \mathbb{Q}_p or more generally other locally compact topological fields should exist.

Our main theorem also yields an alternative description of $K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R})$ by using Nenashev's generator and relator presentation for K_1 -groups.

Theorem. Let \mathfrak{A} be a regular order in a finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra. Then $K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R})$ admits a presentation where generators are double short exact sequences

$$A_{\underbrace{q}}^{\underbrace{p}} B \xrightarrow{r}_{s}^{} C,$$

for A, B, C locally compact right \mathfrak{A} -modules, modulo suitable relations coming from (3×3) -diagrams (We explain this in detail in §2.1).

See Theorem 2.5. Regrettably, the identification of the image of $K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{Q})$ inside $K_1(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$ remains open at the moment. This would be important for the formulation of Rationality in the ETNC. Moreover, the restriction to regular orders is a nuisance and we hope to remove this assumption in the future. Maximal orders, and more generally hereditary orders are regular. Group rings $\mathbb{Z}[G]$ are only Gorenstein, we cannot handle them at the moment. We can obtain the analogue of our main theorem for *G*-theory for all orders, with no extra conditions.

Theorem. Suppose \mathfrak{A} is an arbitrary order in a finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra A. Then there is a long exact sequence

 $\cdots \longrightarrow G_n(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow K_n(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \longrightarrow K_n(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) \longrightarrow G_{n-1}(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow \cdots,$

where $G_n(\mathfrak{A}) := K_n(\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg})$ denotes the K-theory of the category of finitely generated right \mathfrak{A} -modules (this is often called "G-theory").

See Theorem 11.4. So, we see that $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ roughly speaking corresponds to the *G*-theory groups $G_n(\mathfrak{A})$ in general. Really, we would want *K*-theory groups here. For *K*-groups of rings this amounts to restricting to *projective* modules among all modules, and similarly we will define a variant of $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ in the future, fixing the issue in a similar way. For this category then all orders \mathfrak{A} will be fine, not just the regular ones. This still needs to be carefully worked out and written, but using a suitable full subcategory of $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ should be enough.

To complete the overview, let us state the following result, Theorem 12.8, which is essentially due to Clausen, even though he has not spelled it out in this fashion in [Cla17].

Theorem. The Haar functor $Ha : \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times} \to \mathsf{Tors}(\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})$ is the universal determinant functor of the category $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathbb{Z}}$. Here

- (1) for any LCA group G, Ha(G) denotes the $\mathbb{R}^{\times}_{>0}$ -torsor of all Haar measures on G, and
- (2) Deligne's Picard groupoid of virtual objects for LCA_ℤ turns out to be isomorphic to the Picard groupoid of ℝ[×]_{>0}-torsors.

Our central concept, the *equivariant Haar measure*, will generalize this theorem from $LCA_{\mathbb{Z}}$ to $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$. However, this is in a way tautological since, guided by the above theorem, we simply define it as the universal determinant functor of the category $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Thus, studying the categorical properties of $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ will be the key tool in the paper.

We also prove the following reciprocity law. Write $\mathbb A$ for the adèles of the rationals.

Theorem (Reciprocity Law). Let \mathfrak{A} be an arbitrary order in a semisimple finite-dimensional \mathbb{Q} -algebra A. Then the composition of natural maps

$$K(A) \longrightarrow K(A \otimes \mathbb{A}) \longrightarrow K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$$

is zero.

See Theorem 13.1.

Acknowledgement. I heartily thank P. Arndt, B. Chow, D. Clausen, A. Huber, B. Morin for discussions and input. I thank D. Grayson for spotting and correcting mistakes, R. Brown and T.-Y. Lam, A. Nickel for correspondence. I heartily thank the Freiburg Institute for Advanced Studies (FRIAS) for providing truly wonderful working conditions and a very inspiring environment. I thank the anonymous referee for a number of corrections and several other improvements.

2. Where does this picture come from?

We will now give a detailed exposition how the category $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ shows up. Those who are in a hurry may consider jumping to §3 right away. On the other hand, this section may serve as a survey.

Before Bloch and Kato proposed to interpret Tamagawa numbers in terms of realizations of motives, Tamagawa numbers would just stem from the evaluation of integrals on adelic points of algebraic groups; see the famous map of the 'land of Tamagawa numbers' [BloK90, bottom of p 336], and generally the introduction of their article.

Measures or volumes have since often been interpreted in terms of determinant functors in the sense of Deligne [Del87], [Knu02]. We refer the reader to §12 for a quick summary. The determinant line is a functor defined for all *commutative* rings. If, say, R happens to be an integral domain (or more generally if Spec R is connected), then it is

$$\operatorname{PMod}(R)^{\times} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}_{R}^{\mathbb{Z}}, \qquad M \longmapsto \left(\bigwedge^{\operatorname{top}} M, \operatorname{rk} M \right),$$

where $\operatorname{PMod}(R)$ is the exact category of finitely generated projective Rmodules. Moreover, $\operatorname{PMod}(R)^{\times}$ denotes the same category but with all non-isomorphisms deleted from the collection of morphisms, and $\operatorname{Pic}_{R}^{\mathbb{Z}}$ is the Picard groupoid of \mathbb{Z} -graded lines: Its objects are pairs (L, n), where L is a rank one projective R-module and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. For a full definition and description of the Picard groupoid structure we refer to [BurF01, §2.5], [KM76, Chapter 1]. For $R = \mathbb{R}$ one might hope that this would give the Haar measure, in the following sense:

The top exterior power $\bigwedge^{\text{top}} M$ corresponds to a top form against which we can integrate. Nonetheless, this picture is slightly flawed. The issue is that in the category $\text{PMod}(\mathbb{R})$ we have, vaguely speaking, orientationreversing automorphisms like $\mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$, $x \mapsto -x$, changing the sign of the top form. This differs from the Haar measure, which always returns nonnegative volumes. So there is a difference:



This might just seem like an innocent subtlety, but the homological implications of this difference run deeper. For example, the Picard groupoid $\operatorname{Pic}_{R}^{\mathbb{Z}}$ has the non-trivial symmetry constraint

$$(L,n)\otimes (L',n') \xrightarrow{(-1)^{nn'} \cdot s} (L',n') \otimes (L,n),$$

where $s: L \otimes_R L' \cong L' \otimes_R L$ denotes the usual plain symmetry constraint of the symmetric monoidal structure of PMod(R). This structure only stems from the signed nature and in the Haar setting there is no interplay between a sign and the ranks n, n'.

We will now be heading towards the viewpoint that once the Haar measure has been set up carefully as a determinant functor in the sense of Deligne, the corresponding \mathfrak{A} -equivariant analogue naturally takes values in $K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R})$ instead of $\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times}$ (and this aspect cannot be seen when using the top exterior power determinant line instead, because already in the non-equivariant setting there is a difference between the two when it comes to handling the signs).

This viewpoint supplies "In our approach Tamagawa numbers are then elements of a relative algebraic K-group $K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R})$ " [BurF01, p. 502] with a very concrete philosophical interpretation.

If G is a locally compact abelian (LCA) group, it carries a Haar measure μ_G , well-defined up to rescaling by a positive real constant, see [HN98, Ch. II, §5] for a review. Suppose

$$G' \hookrightarrow G \twoheadrightarrow G''$$

is an exact sequence of LCA groups. This means it is exact on the level of abelian groups and additionally the first arrow is a closed map, while the second is a quotient map in the sense of topology. Suppose we are given choices of Haar measures $\mu_{G'}$, $\mu_{G''}$ on G' and G'' respectively, then there is a unique choice of Haar measure μ_G on G such that

$$\int_{G} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G} = \int_{G'} \int_{G''} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G''} \mathrm{d}\mu_{G'}$$
(2.1)

holds for all $f \in C_c(G)$ (compactly supported continuous functions). In particular, μ_G induces $\mu_{G'}$ on G', and $\mu_{G''}$ is the corresponding quotient measure. This is the fundamental compatibility construction for Haar measures in exact sequences.

(a) These constructions give rise to the *modulus*: Suppose $f : G \xrightarrow{\sim} G$ is an automorphism of the LCA group. Then for any choice of the Haar measure μ_G , the pullback $f^*\mu_G$ is again a Haar measure. Being unique up to a positive scalar, this gives some unique $c \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times}$ such that $\mu_G = c \cdot f^*\mu_G$. This construction can be promoted to a group homomorphism

$$|-|: \operatorname{Aut}(G) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times}.$$

This homomorphism is well-defined and not longer dependent on the initial choice of μ_G . See [HN98, Ch. II, §5.6]

(b) If G is a discrete (resp. compact) LCA group, one still can choose a Haar measure, but a canonical choice is possible, namely $\mu_G(\{g\}) := 1$ for each element, i.e.

$$\mu_G(U) := \#U$$
 (the counting measure)

if G is discrete, or the normalization $\mu_G(G) = 1$ in the case if G is compact. So the cases of discrete or compact groups are special in the sense that there is a canonical normalization.

(c) The exact sequence compatibility of the Haar measure amounts to the following property: If



is a commutative diagram, then the modulus satisfies

$$|g| = |f| \cdot |h|. \tag{2.2}$$

One can extract further laws describing the behaviour of Haar measures in complexes, or more complicated commutative diagrams, e.g., a (3×3) -Lemma etc. Such rules have been studied to some extent by Oesterlé [Oes84, Appendice 4] and de Smit [dS96].

This concludes our quick summary of the Haar measure, from the viewpoint of picking an (inevitably non-canonical) choice of a normalization on each group. However, there is also a completely different viewpoint:

As was pointed out by Hoffmann and Spitzweck, the category LCA of locally compact groups is an exact category [HS07]. As a result, it comes with its own universal determinant functor in the sense of Deligne [Del87]:

$$\det: \mathsf{LCA}^{\times} \longrightarrow V(\mathsf{LCA}),$$

where $V(\mathsf{LCA})$ denotes the universal Picard groupoid of the category, also known as Deligne's category of 'virtual objects'.

Now, the properties of the Haar measure which we had recalled above can be used to construct a concrete determinant functor on LCA by hand: If Ais an abelian group, recall that an A-torsor T is a simply transitive A-set. Hence, for every $t \in T$ one gets an isomorphism of A-sets $A \xrightarrow{\sim} T$, but there is no canonical choice for such an identification. There is a tensor product $T \otimes T'$, defined by

$$\{(t,t') \in T \times T'\} / \left\langle (t,t') \sim (s,s') : \Leftrightarrow \exists a \in A \text{ s.t. } t = a + s, t' = a + s' \right\rangle.$$

The A-torsors form a category $\operatorname{Tors}(A)$, and indeed a Picard groupoid. The group A itself with its natural A-set structure acts as the unit $1_{\operatorname{Tors}(A)}$, and T^{-1} is defined by letting A act negatively.

Now, define the Haar functor

$$Ha(-): \mathsf{LCA}^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathsf{Tors}(\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})$$
(2.3)

by sending each LCA group G to its set of Haar measures. Since the rescaling by a positive scalar acts simply transitively on them, this is an $\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times}$ -torsor.

Let us recast the functoriality properties of the Haar measure in this language: (a) If $f: G \xrightarrow{\sim} G$ denotes an automorphism, then any trivialization of the Haar torsor, i.e. an isomorphism of $\mathbb{R}^{\times}_{>0}$ -sets $t: \mathbb{R}^{\times}_{>0} \xrightarrow{\sim} Ha(G)$ gives a concrete measure $d\mu_G \in Ha(G)$ attached to some real number, as does $f^*d\mu_G$. The modulus |f| is the fraction of these numbers. This corresponds to the canonical morphism

$$\operatorname{Aut}(G) \longrightarrow \pi_1(\operatorname{\mathsf{Tors}}(\mathbb{R}^{\times}_{>0})) \cong \mathbb{R}^{\times}_{>0} \tag{2.4}$$

coming from comparing trivializations. (c) For every short exact sequence $G' \hookrightarrow G \twoheadrightarrow G''$ the compatibility of Equation 2.1 amounts to a canonical isomorphism of torsors,

$$Ha(G) \xrightarrow{\sim} Ha(G') \underset{\mathsf{Tors}(\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})}{\otimes} Ha(G'').$$
(2.5)

Taken altogether, this gives the fundamental datum of a determinant functor, see Equation 12.1.

So far, we have skipped over the analogue of (b). Here the story differs a little: Write LCA_D (resp. LCA_C) for the full subcategories of LCA of discrete (resp. compact) LCA groups. Restricted to these categories, the Haar torsor determinant functor admits a trivialization.

This can be seen by a variant of the Eilenberg swindle: Suppose $C \in \mathsf{LCA}_C$ is compact. Then there is an exact sequence

$$C \hookrightarrow \prod_{\mathbb{Z}} C \twoheadrightarrow \prod_{\mathbb{Z}} C, \tag{2.6}$$

using that the product of compact groups is again compact (Tychonoff's Theorem). Equation 2.5 provides us with a canonical isomorphism

$$Ha(\prod_{\mathbb{Z}} C) \xrightarrow{\sim} Ha(C) \otimes Ha(\prod_{\mathbb{Z}} C),$$

and \otimes -multiplying with the inverse of $Ha(\prod_{\mathbb{Z}} C)$, we get an isomorphism

$$t_C: 1_{\mathsf{Tors}(A)} \xrightarrow{\sim} Ha(C),$$

i.e. a canonical trivialization of the torsor. This is also compatible with exact sequences, i.e. if $C' \hookrightarrow C \twoheadrightarrow C''$ is an exact sequence of compact groups, the trivializations $t_{(-)}$ for C', C, C'' sit in a commutative diagram.

This argument also shows that the modulus is trivial: Firstly, the property of Equation 2.2 applied to

shows that |g| = |h|, i.e. the modulus agrees when the automorphisms commute with an isomorphism. Every automorphism $f: C \xrightarrow{\sim} C$ induces an automorphism factor-wise to $\prod_{\mathbb{Z}} C$, call it g. Hence, applied to the diagram

$$C \xrightarrow{} \prod_{\mathbb{Z}} C \xrightarrow{} \prod_{\mathbb{Z}} C$$

$$f \downarrow \sim g \downarrow \sim h \downarrow \sim$$

$$C \xrightarrow{} \prod_{\mathbb{Z}} C \xrightarrow{} n \prod_{\mathbb{Z}} C$$

whose rows are made from Equation 2.6, the same property shows that $|g| = |f| \cdot |h|$, where h is the induced map on the quotient. However, by our previous observation from Equation 2.7, |g| = |h|, so we deduce |f| = 1. The automorphism f was arbitrary, and it follows that the modulus is always 1 for every compact group.

For discrete groups $D \in \mathsf{LCA}_D$ instead take the short exact sequence $D \hookrightarrow \coprod_{\mathbb{Z}} D \twoheadrightarrow \coprod_{\mathbb{Z}} D$ based on coproducts. These are still discrete. The same argument goes through.

While the argument here might look a little different, this is the torsor reformulation of property (b) saying that compact and discrete groups have a canonical normalization.

We summarize our observations as follows.

Lemma 2.1. Let $G \in \mathsf{LCA}$ be a compact group or a discrete group. Then for every determinant functor $\mathcal{P} : \mathsf{C}^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathsf{P}$, with P some Picard groupoid, the value $\mathcal{P}(f) \in \pi_1(\mathsf{P})$ of any automorphism $f : G \xrightarrow{\sim} G$ is trivial, i.e. the neutral element of the group.

Proof. A careful reading of the previous arguments shows that they only use axioms of a determinant functor, as in Definition 12.1, so they hold in general. The construction of the modulus translates into mapping the isomorphism in the Picard groupoid P to its class in π_1 .

Now let us compare the usual determinant line with the Haar measure:

Example 2.2. Firstly, we consider the category $\mathsf{Vect}_f(\mathbb{R})$ of finite-dimensional real vector spaces. Deligne's universal determinant functor is

$$\det: \mathsf{Vect}_f(\mathbb{R})^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathsf{Pic}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{Z}}$$

with values in the Picard groupoid of graded lines. In particular, for any automorphism $f : \mathbb{R}^n \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{R}^n$, the value lies in $\pi_1(\operatorname{Pic}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{Z}}) = \mathbb{R}^{\times}$. This can be interpreted as a signed/oriented measure. Every finite-dimensional real vector space can also be regarded as an LCA group; the functor $\psi_{\infty} : \operatorname{Vect}_f(\mathbb{R}) \to \operatorname{LCA}$ is exact. However, no determinant functor on LCA can see the orientation. To see this, consider the map of multiplication with -1, which induces a map of exact sequences



and by Equation 2.2 (or rather its analogue for general Picard groupoids) we obtain $\mathcal{P}(-1_{\mathbb{R}}) = \mathcal{P}(-1_{\mathbb{Z}}) \cdot \mathcal{P}(-1_{\mathbb{T}})$. However, \mathbb{Z} is discrete (resp. \mathbb{T} compact), so by Lemma 2.1, we must have $\mathcal{P}(-1_{\mathbb{Z}}) = 1$, $\mathcal{P}(-1_{\mathbb{T}}) = 1$. Thus, $\mathcal{P}(-1_{\mathbb{R}}) = 1$. A more careful computation shows that the functor ψ_{∞} induces the map $\pi_1(\operatorname{Pic}_R^{\mathbb{Z}}) \to \pi_1(V(\mathsf{LCA}))$, $\alpha \mapsto |\alpha|$, i.e. the Haar measure differs from the real determinant line just by forgetting the sign. We give a rigorous proof for this claim in Proposition 13.3 based on K-theory.

Example 2.3. The analogous effect over the *p*-adics is more drastic. For any $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ consider the map of exact sequences

This time \mathbb{Z}_p is compact and $\mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p$ discrete, but again the same Lemma 2.1 shows that we must have $\mathcal{P}(\alpha_{\mathbb{Z}_p}) = 1$, $\mathcal{P}(\alpha_{\mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p}) = 1$, and therefore

 $\mathcal{P}(\alpha_{\mathbb{Q}_p}) = 1$. Indeed, the difference between the *p*-adic determinant line and the Haar measure is taking the *p*-adic absolute value

$$\pi_1(\operatorname{Pic}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}^{\mathbb{Z}}) \longrightarrow \pi_1(V(\operatorname{LCA})), \qquad \alpha \longmapsto |\alpha|_p.$$

Again, we see that the Haar measure is a lot coarser than the determinant line. See Proposition 13.3 for a rigorous proof of this claim.

The previous examples show that the Haar torsor, although related, is really a bit of a different invariant than the standard determinant line of a ring. The following result is more or less implicit in the work of Clausen [Cla17]:

Theorem. The Haar functor $Ha : \mathsf{LCA}^{\times} \to \mathsf{Tors}(\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})$ is the universal determinant functor of the category LCA . In particular, Deligne's Picard groupoid of virtual objects for LCA is isomorphic to the Picard groupoid of $\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times}$ -torsors.

This will be Theorem 12.8 below. This result motivates to define an "equivariant Haar measure" simply by replacing LCA by the category $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ of locally compact \mathfrak{A} -modules and taking the universal determinant functor of this category. By the above theorem, it follows that for the non-equivariant setting $\mathfrak{A} := \mathbb{Z}$ we get the classical Haar measure.

Definition 2.4. Let \mathfrak{A} be an order in a finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} algebra A. Define the equivariant Haar measure functor to be Deligne's universal determinant functor of the exact category $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$, i.e.

$$Ha_{\mathfrak{A}}: \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}^{\times} \longrightarrow V(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}),$$

where $V(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$ denotes Deligne's virtual objects in this category. We may also call $V(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$ the Picard groupoid of equivariant volumes.

Now, let us connect this back to the ETNC.

Theorem. Let \mathfrak{A} be a regular order in a finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra A. Then

$$\pi_1 V(\mathsf{LCA}_\mathfrak{A}) \cong K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R}),$$

and, stronger, the Picard groupoid of equivariant volumes $V(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$ is equivalent to the 1-truncation of the (-1)-shift of the fiber of the morphism $K(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow K(A_{\mathbb{R}}).$

See Theorem 12.9.

The corresponding universal Picard categories $V(\mathsf{LCA}_D)$ resp. $V(\mathsf{LCA}_C)$ are the trivial Picard groupoid with one object and no non-trivial automorphisms.

2.1. Nenashev's presentation. A *double (short) exact sequence* in $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is the datum of two short exact sequences

 $\operatorname{Yin}: A \stackrel{p}{\hookrightarrow} B \stackrel{r}{\twoheadrightarrow} C \qquad \text{and} \qquad \operatorname{Yang}: A \stackrel{q}{\hookrightarrow} B \stackrel{s}{\twoheadrightarrow} C,$

where (as we can see) only the maps may differ, but the three objects agree. We write

$$A_{\underbrace{q}}^{\underbrace{p}} B \xrightarrow{r}_{s}^{*} C$$

as a convenient shorthand. The study of this concept was pioneered by Nenashev.

Theorem 2.5. Let \mathfrak{A} be a regular order in a finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra. Then $K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R})$, or equivalently $K_1(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$, has the following presentation as an abelian group:

(1) Attach a generator to each double exact sequence

$$A_{\underbrace{q}}^{\underbrace{p}} B \xrightarrow{r}_{s}^{} C$$

with A, B, C locally compact right \mathfrak{A} -modules.

(2) Whenever the yin and yang exact sequence agree, i.e.,

$$A_{\underbrace{c} = p \atop p} \overset{p}{\longrightarrow} B \xrightarrow{r} C,$$

we declare the class to be zero.

(3) Suppose there is a (not necessarily commutative) diagram



whose rows Row_i and columns Col_j are double exact sequences. Suppose after deleting all yin (resp. all yang) exact sequences, the remaining diagram commutes. Then impose the relation

$$Row_1 - Row_2 + Row_3 = Col_1 - Col_2 + Col_3.$$
(2.8)

Proof. This is precisely Nenashev's presentation of K_1 , see [Nen98, Theorem]. Hence, the validity of this presentation follows by our main theorem, which expresses $K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R})$ as the K_1 -group $K_1(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$.

Instead of Nenashev's presentation, one may also work with Grayson's generalized formalism of binary complexes, which also works for higher K-groups [Gra12].

Let us demonstrate how to work with this presentation in two key cases.

Example 2.6. The map

$$K_1(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \longrightarrow K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R})$$

in Sequence 1.1 is given as follows: Write any matrix $M \in \operatorname{GL}(A_{\mathbb{R}})$ as an automorphism of $X := A_{\mathbb{R}}^m$ with m sufficiently large. Then send

$$\left[\varphi: X \xrightarrow{\sim} X\right] \longmapsto \left[\begin{array}{cc} 0 \xrightarrow{\quad 0 \\ \longrightarrow \end{array}} X \xrightarrow{\varphi} X, \\ 0 \xrightarrow{\quad 0 \\ \longrightarrow \end{array}} X, \\ \end{array} \right],$$

where on the right X is now interpreted as a locally compact \mathfrak{A} -module, equipped with the topology coming from the real vector space structure. This is the map transforming automorphisms in $\mathrm{PMod}(A_{\mathbb{R}})$ to elements in the Nenashev presentation. This fact is standard and discussed in [Wei13, Ch. IV, Example 9.6.2], [Nen98, Equation (2.2)] (in these sources translate Weibel's left sequence to the bottom sequence in Nenashev's paper, as opposed to the top one, to get the signs to match).

Example 2.7. From the exactness of Sequence 1.1 we expect that the composition

$$K_1(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow K_1(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \longrightarrow K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R})$$

is zero. Let us confirm this by a direct computation in the Nenashev presentation. We work in the category $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Let $\mathfrak{X} \in \mathsf{PMod}(\mathfrak{A})$, which we tacitly equip with the discrete topology, while we equip $X_{\mathbb{R}} := \mathfrak{X} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ with the locally compact topology which comes from its real vector space structure. Define

$$T := X_{\mathbb{R}} / \mathfrak{X}$$
 in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$.

Note that $X_{\mathbb{R}}/\mathfrak{X}$, as a cokernel in the category $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$, carries the quotient topology. Since \mathfrak{X} is a lattice of full rank in $X_{\mathbb{R}}$ (see §3.1), T is topologically a compact torus of dimension $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(X_{\mathbb{R}})$. We begin with the (3×3) -diagram

where we wrote $\overline{\varphi \otimes \mathbb{R}}$ to refer to what the map $\varphi \otimes \mathbb{R}$ induces on the torus quotient. As we see from Equation 2.8, this diagram induces the following relation.

Next, consider the (3×3) -diagram

where the middle and right downward exact sequence stem from the injection sending m to the sequence (m, 0, 0, 0, ...) and the epic sending $(m_1, m_2, ...)$ to $(m_2, m_3, ...)$. Here Equation 2.8 yields the relation

$$\left[\begin{array}{cc} 0 & \xrightarrow{\varphi} \\ 0 & \xrightarrow{\varphi} \\ \hline 1 \\ \end{array}\right] = 0.$$
 (2.11)

The analogous game can be played when replacing \mathfrak{X} and $\coprod_{\mathbb{N}} \mathfrak{X}$ by the pair T and $\prod_{\mathbb{N}} T$. We get

$$\left[\begin{array}{cc} 0 & \xrightarrow{\overline{\varphi \otimes \mathbb{R}}} T & \xrightarrow{\overline{\varphi \otimes \mathbb{R}}} T \\ & \xrightarrow{1} & \end{array}\right] = 0.$$
 (2.12)

All three relations of Equations 2.9, 2.11, 2.12 can be combined to give

$$\left[\begin{array}{c} 0 & & \\ & & \\ 0 & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ \end{array} \right] = X_{\mathbb{R}} \left[\begin{array}{c} \varphi \otimes \mathbb{R} \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ \end{array} \right] = 0.$$

In view of Example 2.6, this shows that if φ comes from an automorphism $\varphi : \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{X}$, then its class in $K_1(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$ and thus in $K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R})$ vanishes. Of course this argument is just a variation of the Eilenberg swindle, performed in this explicit presentation, and corresponds under the bridge to the Haar measure in §2 to the fact that the Haar measure on compact resp. discrete LCA groups admits a canonical normalization.

Example 2.8. We note that there is nothing like Diagram 2.10 with $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ instead of \mathfrak{X} , since both $\prod_{\mathbb{N}} A_{\mathbb{R}}$ as well as $\coprod_{\mathbb{N}} A_{\mathbb{R}}$ fail to be locally compact.

2.2. Strategy of proof. In the special case $\mathfrak{A} = \mathbb{Z}$ and $A = \mathbb{Q}$, our main result was proven by Clausen [Cla17], using ∞ -categorical methods, and not in the context of the ETNC. We had already developed a generalization of Clausen's result for maximal orders \mathcal{O} (i.e. the ring of integers) when A is a number field [Bra18], and in this paper we try to adapt the proof given *op. cit.* as far as possible. Let us list some of the obstacles where things become harder:

- The rings are now *non*-commutative and duality swaps left and right modules.
- We introduce a new method to create certain projective covers based on covering space theory, see Lemma 5.4. While this could certainly be replaced by an argument "by hand", this is a very efficient new tool.
- We run into two separate issues when handling the compactly generated modules, see §10. We explain how to solve them there, and this fix even works for orders \mathfrak{A} of infinite global dimension. This might be important for the issue to remove the restriction to regular orders in our main theorem in the future. The principal trick is to "move" infinitely long resolutions into a piece of the category whose *K*-theory gets killed by an Eilenberg swindle. This way, that the resolution would not have been finite, does not need to bother us anymore.
- Most delicate: Ibid. all rings were Dedekind. Thus, if $M \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathcal{O}}$ was for example a torus \mathbb{T}^n topologically, then it followed that M was divisible and thus an injective \mathcal{O} -module (which is useful to split off direct summands). But over a general order \mathfrak{A} , more precisely over the non-hereditary ones, divisible modules need *not* be injective. In particular, some nice decomposition results in [Bra18] simply would be false in the setup of the present paper. This complicates all proofs which previously were relying on these decompositions.

3. Categorical framework

3.1. Basics. We recall that a module is called *semisimple* if it splits as a (possibly infinite) direct sum of simple modules. A unital associative (not necessarily commutative) ring A is called *semisimple* if one (then all) of the following properties hold: (a) A has trivial Jacobson radical and is left Artinian, (b) the category of left A-modules is split exact, (c) all left A-modules are semisimple, (d) all left A-modules are injective, (e) all left A-modules are projective, (f) its opposite algebra A^{op} is semisimple.

In particular, by (f) the conditions (b)-(e) could equivalently be demanded to hold for right A-modules.

Suppose A is a finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra. By finite dimension we mean that A is finite-dimensional as a \mathbb{Q} -vector space. An *order* $\mathfrak{A} \subseteq A$ is a subring of A which is a finitely generated \mathbb{Z} -module such that

 $\mathbb{Q} \cdot \mathfrak{A} = A$. More accurately, this should be called a \mathbb{Z} -order, but we will not consider any other types of orders.

As an abelian group, we have $\mathfrak{A} \simeq \mathbb{Z}^n$, where $n := \dim_{\mathbb{Q}} A$. To see this, tensor $\mathfrak{A} \hookrightarrow A$ over \mathbb{Z} with \mathbb{Q} , giving the injection $\mathfrak{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q} \hookrightarrow A$, and the condition $\mathbb{Q} \cdot \mathfrak{A} = A$ implies that this map must be surjective, and thus an isomorphism. However, as $\mathfrak{A} \subseteq A$ forces \mathfrak{A} to be torsion-free, it can only be of the shape \mathbb{Z}^a for some *a* anyway, and then $\mathfrak{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q} \simeq \mathbb{Q}^a$, proving a = n.

Moreover, we see that $\mathbb{Q} \cdot \mathfrak{A} \cong \mathbb{Q} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{A}$ and \mathfrak{A} is a full rank lattice in the finite-dimensional real vector space $\mathbb{R} \cdot \mathfrak{A} \cong \mathbb{R} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} A$. That is, the quotient $(\mathbb{R} \cdot \mathfrak{A})/\mathfrak{A}$ is an *n*-dimensional real torus, topologically.

If R denotes a ring, we speak of an *algebraic* R-module M whenever we want to stress that we ignore any topological structures which are present on both R and M. Alternatively, regard both R and M as equipped with the discrete topology.

Example 3.1. For every finite group G, the group ring $\mathbb{Z}[G]$ is an order in the rational group algebra $\mathbb{Q}[G]$.

While we will mostly be interested in K-theory, several of our results hold more generally for *localizing invariants* in the sense of Blumberg, Gepner and Tabuada, [BluGT13]. For any presentable stable ∞ -category A this roughly speaking amounts to a functor

$$L: \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{ex}} \to \mathsf{A} \tag{3.1}$$

which "has a localization sequence" as in K-theory. The precise definition is [BluGT13, Definition 8.1], and $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}^{ex}$ is also defined *loc. cit.*; we use exactly the same notation.

Example 3.2. Non-connective algebraic *K*-theory, frequently denoted by \mathbb{K} in the literature and also in this text, is a localizing invariant $\mathbb{K} : \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{ex}} \to \operatorname{Sp}$, where Sp is the ∞ -category of spectra.

Given an idempotent complete exact category C, it comes with a canonical attached stable ∞ -category. This can be done in two steps: (a) first, one forms the dg category $\operatorname{Ch}_{dg}^{b}(C)$ of bounded complexes in C and its subcategory of acyclic complexes $\operatorname{Ac}_{dg}^{b}(C)$. This is for example explained in [Büh10]. (b) Next, one forms their quotient, either as a dg quotient or already in the ∞ -categorical setting. Following the latter path, by Lurie's dg nerve construction [Lur, §1.3.1], each dg category gives rise to a stable ∞ -category, [Lur, Prop. 1.3.2.10]. One then forms the cofiber in $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}^{ex}$ (or equivalently in $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}$),

$$D^b_{dg}(\mathsf{C}) := \operatorname{Ch}^b_{dg}(\mathsf{C}) / \operatorname{Ac}^b_{dg}(\mathsf{C}),$$

which is again a stable ∞ -category [Lur, Prop. 1.1.4.6]. Its homotopy category is equivalent to the bounded derived category $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathsf{C})$ of the exact category as set up in Bühler [Büh10]. This construction gives the stable ∞ category enhancement of the derived category (or a dg enhancement if one

goes the other path). This is explained in a little more detail in [AnGH19, Appendix, A.4-A.7]. If C is an exact category which fails to be idempotent complete, do the same construction with the idempotent completion of C. Whether one takes the quotient in the dg setting or stable ∞ -setting, the key point is to quotient out the acyclic complexes, as this implements the data of the exact structure on C.

3.2. Quasi-abelian categories. We will work a lot with exact categories. We shall use the conventions of Bühler [Büh10]. We write ' \hookrightarrow ' (resp. ' \twoheadrightarrow ') to denote an admissible monic (resp. admissible epic). The concept of a quasi-abelian category might be less well-known. It is also explained *loc. cit.*, but all we really need to know are the following facts: (a) Quasi-abelian categories C are a particular type of exact category, (b) In a quasi-abelian category every morphism has a kernel and cokernel.

Unfortunately, the latter does not yet suffice to make C an abelian category. By an insight of Hoffmann and Spitzweck [HS07] the category LCA of locally compact abelian (from now on: LCA) groups is quasi-abelian. We shall recall this below in detail, but for the moment just note that if \mathbb{R}_{δ} denotes the real numbers equipped with the discrete topology, then the identity $f : \mathbb{R}_{\delta} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a continuous group homomorphism with zero kernel and zero cokernel, but f still fails to be an isomorphism. Such a behaviour would be impossible in an abelian category.

3.3. Locally compact modules. Suppose \mathfrak{A} is an order inside a semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra A of finite dimension. Note that it is sufficient to specify \mathfrak{A} since $A = \mathbb{Q} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{A}$ is uniquely determined by it.

Definition 3.3. We define a category $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ such that

- (1) an object M is a right \mathfrak{A} -module along with the datum of an LCA group structure on its additive group (M; +) such that right multiplication by any $\alpha \in \mathfrak{A}$ is a continuous endomorphism $(M; +) \xrightarrow{\cdot \alpha} (M; +)$,
- (2) a morphism $M \to M'$ is a continuous right \mathfrak{A} -module homomorphism.

We write $_{\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA}$ for the corresponding category of left modules. We shall write LCA as a shorthand for $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathbb{Z}}$.

As an equivalent alternative description, we may view the ring \mathfrak{A} as equipped with the discrete topology and take locally compact topological right \mathfrak{A} -modules as objects for $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$.

Remark 3.4. Note that the opposite ring \mathfrak{A}^{op} is an order in the opposite algebra A^{op} (which is also semisimple, §3.1), so we have $\mathfrak{A}\mathsf{LCA} = \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}^{op}}$. Hence, for most considerations it will be sufficient to discuss them for right modules and the left module case will be implied by switching to the opposite order in the opposite algebra.

Next, let \mathbb{T} denote the unit circle (or equivalently \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}) in the category LCA. The following result naturally extends the observation of Hoffmann and Spitzweck that LCA is a quasi-abelian category.

Proposition 3.5. The category $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is a quasi-abelian exact category. There is an exact functor

$$(-)^{\vee} : \mathsf{LCA}^{op}_{\mathfrak{A}} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{A}\mathsf{LCA}$$

 $M \longmapsto \operatorname{Hom}(M, \mathbb{T}),$

where the continuous right \mathfrak{A} -module homomorphism group $\operatorname{Hom}(M, \mathbb{T})$ is equipped with the compact-open topology (that is: on the level of the underlying LCA group (M; +) this is the Pontryagin dual), and the left action

 $(\alpha \cdot \varphi)(m) := \varphi(m \cdot \alpha) \quad \text{for all} \quad \alpha \in \mathfrak{A}, \ m \in M.$

There is an analogous exact functor

$$(-)^{\vee}: {}_{\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA}^{op} \longrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$$

such that there is a natural equivalence of functors from the identity functor to double dualization,

$$\eta : \mathrm{id} \longrightarrow (-)^{\vee} \circ \left[(-)^{\vee} \right]^{op}.$$

In less technical terms: For every object $M \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ there exists a reflexivity isomorphism $\eta(M) : M \xrightarrow{\sim} M^{\vee\vee}$, and the isomorphisms $\eta(M)$ are natural in M. Under the forgetful functor $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}} \to \mathsf{LCA}$ (resp. $\mathfrak{A}\mathsf{LCA} \to \mathsf{LCA}$), both duality functors restrict to ordinary Pontryagin duality.

We warn the reader of the subtlety that $\operatorname{Hom}(M, \mathbb{T})$ with the compactopen topology is again locally compact, but it is not true that $\operatorname{Hom}(M, N)$ will be locally compact for other choices of N. See Moskowitz [Mos67, Theorem 4.3 (1')] for a discussion.

Proof. (1) The proof of Hoffmann and Spitzweck for LCA carries over, [HS07, Proposition 1.2]. It shows that $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is quasi-abelian and therefore carries a natural exact structure, by a theorem of Schneiders, [Büh10, Proposition 4.4] or the discussion preceding [Sch99, Remark 1.1.11]. (2) We quickly check that for $\alpha, \beta \in \mathfrak{A}$ and $m \in M$ we have

$$(\beta \alpha \cdot \varphi)(m) = \varphi(m \cdot \beta \alpha) = \varphi((m \cdot \beta) \cdot \alpha) = (\alpha \cdot \varphi)(m \cdot \beta) = (\beta \cdot (\alpha \cdot \varphi))(m)$$

and that $M^{\vee} = \operatorname{Hom}(M, \mathbb{T})$ is an algebraic left \mathfrak{A} -module follows literally from M being an algebraic right \mathfrak{A} -module. The continuity of the scalar action on M^{\vee} follows correspondingly from the one of M. For the double dualization, note that the standard reflexivity isomorphism of the underlying LCA group $\eta : \operatorname{id} \longrightarrow (-)^{\vee} \circ [(-)^{\vee}]^{op}$ has the required properties and additionally preserves the \mathfrak{A} -module action. We refer to [Mor77] for a proof of the duality statements for the underlying category LCA.

Remark 3.6. If \mathfrak{A} happens to be commutative, we have $\mathfrak{A}^{op} = \mathfrak{A}$ and then we need not distinguish between left and right modules over \mathfrak{A} . Then Proposition 3.5 extends to show that $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is an exact category with duality in the sense of [Sch10, Definition 2.1]. This remark applies for example if \mathfrak{A} is the ring of integers (or any order) in a number field. This generalizes [Bra18, Proposition 2.4].

Lemma 3.7. A morphism $f: G' \to G$ in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is

- (1) an admissible monic if and only if it is injective and a closed map,
- (2) an admissible epic if and only if it is surjective and an open map.

Proof. This fact also carries over from LCA, see [HS07].

We recall a few basic concepts around topological groups.

Definition 3.8. Suppose $G \in \mathsf{LCA}$ is an LCA group. A subset $C \subseteq G$ is called symmetric if $g \in C$ implies $-g \in C$.

- (1) We say G has no small subgroups if there exists a neighbourhood U of the zero element such that U does not contain any non-trivial subgroups of G. Write LCA_{nss} for the full subcategory of LCA of these groups.
- (2) We say G is compactly generated if there exists a symmetric compact subset $C \subseteq G$ such that $G = \bigcup_{n \geq 0} C^n$. We write LCA_{cg} for the full subcategory of these groups.
- (3) We call G a vector group if it admits an isomorphism $G \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{R}^n$ for some $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. We write $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathbb{R}}$ for these groups.

The structure of these groups is discussed in Moskowitz [Mos67]. We recall that every $G \in \mathsf{LCA}_{cq}$ is of the shape $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{Z}^m \oplus C$ for C compact and n, m finite; while every $G \in \mathsf{LCA}_{nss}$ is of the shape $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{T}^m \oplus D$ with D discrete and again n, m finite. This is proven as Theorem 2.5 resp. Theorem 2.4 op. cit. respectively.

Definition 3.9. Extending Definition 3.8, we now define further full subcategories $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg} := \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}} \cap \mathsf{LCA}_{cg}$, resp. $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},nss} := \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}} \cap \mathsf{LCA}_{nss}$.

We shall later show that these subcategories are fully exact subcategories and in particular may be regarded as exact categories themselves (Remark 7.3). For the moment, we can only treat them as full additive subcategories.

Lemma 3.10. The functor $(-)^{\vee} : \mathsf{LCA}^{op}_{\mathfrak{N}} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{A}\mathsf{LCA}$

- (1) sends the full subcategory $LCA_{\mathfrak{A},cg}^{op}$ to $_{nss,\mathfrak{A}}LCA$ and conversely; (2) sends the full subcategory $LCA_{\mathfrak{A},nss}^{op}$ to $_{cg,\mathfrak{A}}LCA$ and conversely; (3) sends the full subcategory $LCA_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}}^{op}$ to $_{\mathbb{R},\mathfrak{A}}LCA$ and conversely;

- (4) sends projectives to injectives, and injectives to projectives.

Proof. (1), (2), (3) depend only on qualities of the underlying LCA group, so they follow from [Mos67], Corollary 1 to Theorem 2.5 loc. cit. (4) follows since going to the opposite category transitions the universal property of projectivity into the one for injectivity, and conversely. \Box

4. Basic decompositions

Theorem 4.1. Suppose $M \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$.

(1) Then there exists a clopen right \mathfrak{A} -submodule H and an exact sequence

$$H \stackrel{\iota}{\hookrightarrow} M \twoheadrightarrow D$$

in $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$, where H is compactly generated, D discrete, and i an open map.

(2) Then there exists a compact right \mathfrak{A} -submodule C and an exact sequence

$$C \hookrightarrow M \xrightarrow{q} N$$

in $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$, where N has no small subgroups and q is an open and closed map.

The analogous claims for left modules hold for $M \in \mathfrak{ALCA}$.

Proof. (1) The first claim is proven fairly analogously to [Bra18, Lemma 2.14]. We work with right modules. If M = 0, take H := 0. Otherwise, let $m \neq 0$ be any element of M. As discussed in §3.1, $\mathfrak{A} \simeq \mathbb{Z}^n$ as abelian groups, so we may pick generators b_i and write $\mathfrak{A} = \mathbb{Z} \langle b_1, \ldots, b_n \rangle$. Next, since M is locally compact, we find compact neighbourhoods of both $0 \in M$ and m, so let $U_0 \subseteq M$ be their union. Define

$$U_1 := \bigcup_{i=1}^n U_0 \cdot b_i$$

and the $U_2 := U_1 \cup (-U_1)$. We observe that (1) U_2 is symmetric, (2) U_2 is compact since it is a finite union of compacta, (3) U_2 is open since it contains an open neighbourhood of $0 \in M$. Define $H := \bigcup_{m \ge 1} U_2^m$. Then H is compactly generated, and open since it is a union of opens. Thus, H is even clopen in M. We claim that H is a right \mathfrak{A} -module: Suppose $h \in H$ and $\alpha \in \mathfrak{A}$. Then $h \in U_2^m$ for some m, so h is a finite sum of terms of the shape $\pm u \cdot b_i$ with $u \in U_0$. For each such term we have

$$(\pm u \cdot b_i) \cdot \alpha = \pm u \cdot (b_i \cdot \alpha) = \pm u \cdot \sum_{j=1}^n c_j b_j$$
 with $c_i \in \mathbb{Z}$

since the b_i form a \mathbb{Z} -basis of \mathfrak{A} . Unravelling each $c_j \in \mathbb{Z}$ as a finite sum of "±1", we note that this expression again is a finite sum of terms of the form $\pm u \cdot b_j$, i.e. lies in H. Thus, $H \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ and the quotient D := M/His discrete since H was open. The claim for left modules can be proven symmetrically. (2) We apply (1) to the Pontryagin dual, giving us an exact sequence

$$D^{\vee} \hookrightarrow M \twoheadrightarrow H^{\vee}$$

and the dual D^{\vee} of a discrete module is compact, giving C, and the quotient map q is open. By [Mor77, Proposition 11] it follows that q is also a closed map. Finally, the dual of a compactly generated module has no small subgroups, see Lemma 3.10.

5. Vector **A**-modules

Let A be a finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra and $\mathfrak{A} \subset A$ an order.

Lemma 5.1. A is a left (and right) flat \mathfrak{A} -algebra.

Proof. We have $\mathbb{Q}\mathfrak{A} = A$, so we can also write $A = \underline{\operatorname{colim}}_{n}^{1}\mathfrak{A}$, where the colimit runs over all integers, partially ordered by divisibility. This presents A as a filtering colimit of (clearly flat!) \mathfrak{A} -algebras since $\frac{1}{n}\mathfrak{A} \cong \mathfrak{A}$ since there cannot be any non-trivial torsion inside a \mathbb{Q} -vector space. However, a filtering colimit of flat algebras is still flat. For this, see [Lam99, (4.4), Proposition]; it just reduces to tensor products commuting with filtering colimits. Since multiplication with $\frac{1}{n}$ is central, this argument works both for the left and the right \mathfrak{A} -module structure.

Lemma 5.2. Suppose $M \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}}$. Then as an algebraic right \mathfrak{A} -module, M is injective and projective; i.e., M is injective and projective in $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. The corresponding statement for left \mathfrak{A} -modules is also true.

Proof. (Step 1) Firstly, we show injectivity for right \mathfrak{A} -modules. We define a map of right \mathfrak{A} -modules

$$\Phi: M \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_A(A, M), \qquad m \longmapsto (a \mapsto ma),$$

where $\operatorname{Hom}_A(A, M)$ carries the right \mathfrak{A} -module structure given by $(f \cdot r)(a) := f(r \cdot a)$ for $r \in \mathfrak{A}$. It is easy to check that Φ respects the right \mathfrak{A} -module structure and the map is an isomorphism since $f \mapsto f(1_A)$ is an inverse map. Now, M is an injective right \mathfrak{A} -module if and only if the functor $N \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{A}}(N, M)$ is exact. We express this functor in a different way by using the functorial isomorphisms

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{A}}(N,M) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{A}}(N,\operatorname{Hom}_{A}(A,M)) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{A}(N \otimes_{\mathfrak{A}} A,M),$$

stemming from Φ and the Hom-tensor adjunction. Since A is a flat left \mathfrak{A} -module (Lemma 5.1), the functor $N \mapsto N \otimes_{\mathfrak{A}} A$ is exact. Moreover, the functor $\operatorname{Hom}_A(-, M)$ is exact since A is semisimple, so every right Amodule is injective (see §3.1). Hence, the composed functor is also exact and it follows that M is an injective algebraic right \mathfrak{A} -module. (Step 2) The argument to show injectivity for algebraic left \mathfrak{A} -modules is analogous. We only need to replace the isomorphism Φ by

$$\Phi': M \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_A(A, M), \qquad m \longmapsto (a \mapsto am)$$

and the left \mathfrak{A} -module structure $(r \cdot f)(a) := f(a \cdot r)$. (Step 3) Next, we show projectivity for right \mathfrak{A} -modules M. To this end, note that the Pontryagin dual M^{\vee} is a left \mathfrak{A} -module. As the Pontryagin dual of a vector group is

again a vector group, we get $M^{\vee} \in \mathbb{R}_{\mathfrak{A}} \mathsf{LCA}$. By Step 2 it follows that M^{\vee} is an injective algebraic left \mathfrak{A} -module. We take Pontryagin duals again, transforming the universal property of injectivity into the universal property for projectivity. Hence, $M^{\vee\vee} \cong M$ is a projective algebraic right \mathfrak{A} -module (this generalizes the corresponding argument of Moskowitz, [Mos67, Theorem 3.1]). (Step 4) Projectivity for left \mathfrak{A} -modules now follows analogously from Step 1: The dual M^{\vee} is a topological right \mathfrak{A} -module, injective as an algebraic right \mathfrak{A} -module by Step 1, and by double dualization $M^{\vee\vee} \cong M$ is projective as an algebraic left \mathfrak{A} -module. \Box

Lemma 5.3. Every object $M \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$ sits in a canonically determined exact sequence

$$C \hookrightarrow M \twoheadrightarrow W$$

such that C is a compact submodule, and as an LCA group W is isomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{Z}^m$ for suitable $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

Proof. Firstly, we shall work with M viewed as an object of the category LCA alone. Being compactly generated, there exists an isomorphism $M \simeq \mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{Z}^m \oplus C$ in LCA with C compact, [Mos67, Theorem 2.5]. For every $\alpha \in \mathfrak{A}$ the right multiplication map is continuous, giving the solid arrows in the commutative diagram



As the image of the upper left compactum C in the lower right quotient M/Cis compact, but $M/C \simeq \mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{Z}^m$ has no non-trivial compact subgroups, the universal property of kernels exhibits the dashed horizontal arrow. As this holds for all $\alpha \in \mathfrak{A}$, it follows that C is (1) closed in M since C is compact, and (2) closed under the right action of \mathfrak{A} . In particular, C is a closed submodule. This also implies that the quotient W := M/C also makes sense in LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}, with the same underlying LCA group, proving our claim.

Lemma 5.4. Suppose $M \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. If the underlying LCA group of M is

(1) isomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{Z}^m$, then there exists an admissible monic $M \hookrightarrow \tilde{M}$, where \tilde{M} is a vector \mathfrak{A} -module and any morphism f as in



admits a lift f'. The cokernel of $M \hookrightarrow \tilde{M}$ has underlying LCA group \mathbb{T}^m .

(2) isomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{T}^m$, then there exists an admissible epic $\tilde{M} \to M$, where \tilde{M} is a vector \mathfrak{A} -module and any morphism f as in



admits a lift f'. The kernel of $M \twoheadrightarrow M$ has underlying LCA group \mathbb{Z}^m .

We prove this by using covering space theory. This might appear like overkill, but it gives a quick and clean solution to the problem.

Proof. We prove (2) for right \mathfrak{A} -modules: We first work in the category LCA alone. Since M is connected, locally path-connected and semi-locally simply connected, M admits a universal covering space \tilde{M} , see e.g. [GH81, (6.7) Theorem]. Take $0 \in M$ to regard it as a pointed space. The fundamental group $\pi_1(M, 0_M) \simeq \mathbb{Z}^m$ acts properly discontinuously on \tilde{M} via deck transformations. In particular, the covering map $q: \tilde{M} \to M$ is a topological quotient map. Now, we shall use the lifting property of continuous maps along covering maps, [GH81, (6.1) Theorem]. Firstly, lift addition to \tilde{M} by lifting the map

$$\tilde{M} \times \tilde{M} \xrightarrow{q \times q} M \times M \xrightarrow{+} M$$

to \tilde{M} . Similarly, lift the negation map. All such lifts are unique, [GH81, (5.1) Theorem]. A standard computation confirms that this equips \tilde{M} with the structure of a topological abelian group, see for example [GH81, (6.11) Theorem]. Moreover, \tilde{M} is Hausdorff and locally compact since the covering map q is a local homeomorphism (or just use that we know that $\tilde{M} \simeq \mathbb{R}^{n+m}$). It follows that $\tilde{M} \in \mathsf{LCA}$ and q, being surjective and open, is an admissible epic. Next, for each $\alpha \in \mathfrak{A}$ lift the scalar action of M by lifting

$$\tilde{M} \xrightarrow{q} M \xrightarrow{\cdot \alpha} M,$$

again using [GH81, (6.1) Theorem]. Since the lifts of these maps are again continuous, we obtain $\tilde{M} \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$, and since these were lifts of the scalar action on M, the morphism q is even a morphism in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Thus, we have constructed an admissible epic $\tilde{M} \twoheadrightarrow M$ in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$, and now, finally, using that $\tilde{M} \simeq \mathbb{R}^{n+m}$, we see that \tilde{M} is indeed a vector \mathfrak{A} -module. The lifting property from f to f' again is nothing but the topological lifting, [GH81, (6.1) Theorem]. We quickly check that f' is a right \mathfrak{A} -module homomorphism: Since q is a right \mathfrak{A} -module homomorphism, we compute

$$q(f'(v) \cdot_{\tilde{M}} \alpha) = q(f'(v)) \cdot_M \alpha = f(v) \cdot_M \alpha = f(v \cdot_V \alpha) \quad \text{for all } v \in V,$$

since f is a right \mathfrak{A} -module homomorphism, but of course qf' = f also implies

$$q(f'(v \cdot_V \alpha)) = f(v \cdot_V \alpha)$$

and therefore $f'(-) \cdot_{\tilde{M}} \alpha$ and $f'(- \cdot_V \alpha)$ lift the same map, so by the uniqueness of lifts they must agree. But this is just the statement that f' is a module homomorphism. It is clear that a symmetric argument works for left \mathfrak{A} -modules. Now, we prove (1) for right modules by observing that the Pontryagin dual of $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{Z}^m$ is $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{T}^m$, so by part (2) we get an epic $\tilde{M} \to M^{\vee}$ in $\mathfrak{A}\mathsf{LCA}$. Dualizing again, this becomes an admissible monic $M \hookrightarrow \tilde{M}^{\vee}$, but since the dual of a vector \mathfrak{A} -module is again a vector \mathfrak{A} module, this proves the claim. Analogously for left modules M.

Remark 5.5. The previous lemma can also be proved without using any covering spaces. Nonetheless, we would hope that this type of argument could be extended to a much wider class of topological groups. Even for the purposes of this text it would be nice to handle all groups of the shape $G = \mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{T}^m \oplus \mathbb{Z}^d$. The first problem is that classical covering space theory is only developed for connected base spaces. However, regarding applications to topological groups, a formalism for covering spaces of nonconnected groups was developed by Taylor [Tay54] and extended by Brown and Mucuk [BroM94]. The first most drastic difference of this situation in comparison to the connected case is that the existence of a universal covering space hinges not just on local constraints (like local path-connectedness), but on a global topological obstruction, a class in $H^3(\pi_0(G), \pi_1(G, e))$, for e the neutral element of the group. In the case at hand, this causes no concern, this obstruction class vanishes if there is a section for the map $G \to \pi_0(G)$; use [Tay54, (7.1)] or [BroS76, Theorem 3 and Proposition 4]. Such a section exists in our situation,

$$\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{T}^m \oplus \mathbb{Z}^d \leftrightarrows \mathbb{Z}^d,$$

but as we shall see in Example 6.2 such sections cannot be expected to exist as \mathfrak{A} -module homomorphisms in the case of non-hereditary orders. Besides this issue, the lifting properties of module structures along such coverings appear not to be completely understood. We thank R. Brown for interesting correspondence.

Remark 5.6. Extending the previous remark, one could of course dream to work with even more general LCA groups G. Besides the complications from lack of connectedness, there are also issues around local path-connectedness. A theorem of Dixmier shows that $G \in \mathsf{LCA}$ is locally path-connected if and only if $G \cong \mathbb{R}^n \oplus C \oplus D$ with D discrete and C compact and path-connected, [Arm81, (8.38)]. This restricts the consideration to compact groups, and for those Dixmier showed that a compact $G \in \mathsf{LCA}$ is path-connected if and only if its dual G^{\vee} , which is discrete, satisfies $\mathrm{Ext}^{\mathbb{Z}}_{\mathbb{Z}}(G^{\vee}, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$, [Arm81, (8.25)

Remarks, (a)]. Such abelian groups G^{\vee} are called 'Whitehead groups'¹. Free abelian groups clearly have this property, so $G = \mathbb{T}^{\omega}$ is path-connected for all cardinals ω . Any other path-connected example G would yield a nonfree Whitehead group G^{\vee} . It was shown by Shelah that it is undecidable in ZFC set theory whether such groups exist or not. If we restrict to second countable LCA groups, the \mathbb{T}^{ω} are the only compact groups which are pathconnected. We are now remote from the subject of this paper, but we feel it might be worth to see that the assumptions of Lemma 5.4 are clearly much more restrictive than required, yet formulating a good generalization will be delicate.

Lemma 5.7. Suppose $G' \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ such that its underlying LCA group is isomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{Z}^m$ for suitable $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. Suppose G is a second such object, for possibly different values of n and m. Suppose we are given the solid arrows in the diagram



where V is a vector \mathfrak{A} -module. Then a lift \tilde{f} exists.

Proof. We follow the strategy of Moskowitz [Mos67]. (Step 1) We work with right modules. Suppose G is a vector \mathfrak{A} -module. Then G' is a closed subgroup of a vector group \mathbb{R}^n on the level of LCA. It follows that there exists a basis b_1, \ldots, b_n of G as a real vector space such that

$$G' = \mathbb{Z} \langle b_1, \dots, b_r \rangle \oplus \mathbb{R} \langle b_{r+1}, \dots, b_n \rangle$$

for some $0 \le r \le n$, cf. [Mor77, Theorem 6]. As f is an abelian group morphism, we have

$$f\left(\sum a_i b_i\right) = \sum a_i f(b_i)$$

for all $a_1, \ldots, a_r \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a_{r+1}, \ldots, a_n \in \mathbb{Q}$. By continuity, the same holds if instead $a_{r+1}, \ldots, a_n \in \mathbb{R}$. Thus, if we define $\tilde{f}(\sum a_i b_i) := a_i f(b_i)$ for all $a_i \in \mathbb{R}$, this indeed extends f. Being a linear map on a finite-dimensional vector space, \tilde{f} is necessarily continuous. Moreover, it respects the \mathfrak{A} -module structure: As \tilde{f} is \mathbb{R} -linear, we can check this on the basis elements b_i , however they all lie in the subgroup G', and so this follows since f respects the \mathfrak{A} -module structure. This proves our claim. (Step 2) Now, let G be arbitrary as in our claim. By Lemma 5.4, (1), we get

$$G' \hookrightarrow G \stackrel{i}{\hookrightarrow} \tilde{G}.$$

¹Of course some people just call $K_1(R)$ the Whitehead group. What these groups have in common is that they are both abelian groups, but that's about it.

where \tilde{G} is a vector \mathfrak{A} -module. By Step 1 we can lift $f: G' \to V$ to a map $\tilde{G} \to V$, and restricting to G, the map $f' \circ i$ proves our claim. Finally, it is clear that all these steps also work for left modules.

Lemma 5.8. Suppose we are given the solid arrows in the diagram



where V is a vector \mathfrak{A} -module and $G', G \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cq}$. Then a lift \tilde{f} exists.

Proof. We right away work in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Apply Lemma 5.3 to both G' and G. We obtain a commutative diagram



The map from C' on the upper left to W on the lower right maps the compactum C' to a compact subgroup of W. But W is isomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{Z}^m$ as an LCA group, so this morphism must be zero. The universal property of kernels yields the lift i^{\sharp} , and then as a result the morphism j gets induced to the quotients:



Observe that both π, π' are open morphisms (as they are admissible epics), but they are additionally closed morphisms since C', C are compact by [Mor77, Proposition 11] (beware: not every admissible epic in LCA is a closed map, see Example 5.10, neither does all open sets being clopen imply that all open maps are closed; not at all).

(Step 1) We claim that j is injective: Suppose $w' \in W'$ and j(w') = 0. Since π' is surjective, we find some $g' \in G'$ such that $w' = \pi'(g')$ and thus $j\pi'(g') = 0$, i.e. $\pi i(g') = 0$. But i is injective, so we may just as well regard G' as a subset of G. We see that the kernel of πi is just $G' \cap C$; it is those elements in C which come from the subset G'. However, C is

compact, so $G' \cap C$ is a compact subgroup of G'. Its image $\pi'(G' \cap C) \subseteq W'$ must also be compact, but since W' has no compact subgroups, we conclude that $G' \cap C \subseteq C'$ (a different way to say this: C' is the maximal compact subgroup of G'). Thus, our g' with $\pi i(g') = 0$ must satisfy $g' \in C'$. Since g'was a preimage of w' in G', it follows that w' = 0.

(Step 2) We claim that j is a closed map. Let $T \subseteq W'$ be a closed set. As π' is continuous, the preimage

$$(\pi')^{-1}(T) = \{g' \in G' \mid \pi'(g') \in T\}$$

is closed in G'. Now, note that i is a closed map, and π is also a closed map (as we had recalled above), so $(\pi \circ i)(\pi')^{-1}(T)$ is closed in W. However, $\pi i = j\pi'$, i.e.

$$(\pi \circ i) \left((\pi')^{-1}(T) \right) = (j \circ \pi') \left((\pi')^{-1}(T) \right)$$

and $\pi'(\pi')^{-1}(T) = T$ (we always have ' \subseteq ', and since π' is surjective, we even have equality). Thus, this set agrees with j(T). As T was an arbitrary closed subset of W', it follows that j maps closed sets to closed sets.

(Step 3) However, combining the previous steps, it follows that j is an admissible monic. We obtain the solid arrows of the diagram



and since V has no compact subgroups, but C' has compact image under f, we get the dashed lift g by the universal property of cokernels. The morphism j has all the properties required to apply Lemma 5.7, so we get the lift depicted by a dotted arrow. Composing with π , this yields the required lift and finishes the proof.

Remark 5.9. At the beginning of the proof we have shown that C' maps to zero in W, so $C' \subseteq C$ and trivially $C' \subseteq G' \cap C$, and in Step 1 we saw that $G' \cap C \subseteq C'$. It follows that the upper square in Diagram 5.1 is a pullback diagram. It remains a pullback in the category of abelian groups and then applying the Snake Lemma yields a different proof that j is injective. We cannot use the Snake Lemma right away in LCA itself, since at this step of the proof we do not yet know that j is an admissible morphism, compare [Büh10, Corollary 8.13].

Example 5.10. The hyperbola $\{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid xy = 1\}$ is closed, but gets mapped to the open set $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ under the projection to (either) factor. These projection maps are therefore open, but not closed.

We recall the following elementary facts from topology.

Lemma 5.11. If $f: G' \to G$ is an abelian group homomorphism of topological groups (not necessarily continuous), then f is continuous if and only if it is continuous in a neighbourhood of the neutral element of G'.

Lemma 5.12. Suppose G is a topological group. If H is an open subgroup and E an arbitrary subgroup, then H + E is an open subgroup.

Proof. Just add an open neighbourhood of zero inside H to an arbitrary element of H + E to see this.

Theorem 5.13. Vector \mathfrak{A} -modules are injective and projective objects in LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}, as well as in \mathfrak{A} LCA.

Proof. We demonstrate injectivity in $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$. This means we have to show the following: Suppose we are given the solid arrows in the diagram



where V is a vector \mathfrak{A} -module and $G', G \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Then a lift \tilde{f} exists. We use essentially the same reduction as Moskowitz [Mos67, Proposition 3.4], but in order to provide a complete proof, we repeat the argument: By Theorem 4.1 we find a clopen compactly generated $H \hookrightarrow G$ with $H \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. We obtain the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} G' \cap H \stackrel{s}{\smile} H \xrightarrow{s} H \\ 0 & 0 \\ G' \stackrel{s}{\longleftarrow} G' \xrightarrow{i} G \end{array}$$

and s is an admissible monic. Since H is compactly generated, so is its closed subgroup $G' \cap H$ by [Mos67, Theorem 2.6]. We lift the restriction $f \mid_{G'\cap H} : G' \cap H \to V$ to H using Lemma 5.8, call this f'. Thus, we have constructed a morphism $(f, f') : G' \oplus H \to V$. Since f and f' agree on $G' \cap H$, we see that (f, f') restricts to the zero map on this intersection, so by the universal property of cokernels applied to the exact sequence

$$G' \cap H \xrightarrow{\Delta} G' \oplus H \xrightarrow{+} G' + H,$$

where $\Delta x := (x, -x)$, the map descends to a morphism $f'' : G' + H \to V$. We note that on G' this map agrees with f, so f'' is a partial lift. Next, since H is open in G, the sum G' + H is also open in G (Lemma 5.12). In

particular, it is a closed submodule, so we arrive at the solid arrows in a diagram



where D is discrete since G' + H was additionally open. Since V is injective as an algebraic right \mathfrak{A} -module by Lemma 5.2, we get the dashed arrow, as an algebraic \mathfrak{A} -module morphism. We need to check that it is continuous. However, for set-theoretic maps of topological groups it suffices to check continuity in a neighbourhood of the neutral element (Lemma 5.11) and since G' + H is open, it suffices to check it on G' + H, but there f agrees with f'', which we know to be continuous. Thus, the dashed arrow defines a morphism in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. The argument for left modules is analogous. Finally, projectivity follows by Pontryagin duality, see Lemma 3.10.

6. Splitting off vector summands

Lemma 6.1. Let $M \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ be given. Suppose for the underlying LCA group there exists a direct sum decomposition

$$M \cong V \oplus D$$
 in LCA

for $V, D \in \mathsf{LCA}$, where D is discrete.

(1) If V is a vector group, then it additionally has a canonical structure as a topological right vector \mathfrak{A} -module. Hence, $V \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$, and moreover there exists a direct sum decomposition

$$M \cong V \oplus D \tag{6.1}$$

also in $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$, where $D \in LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ carries the discrete topology.

(2) If \mathfrak{A} is a hereditary order and $V \simeq \mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{T}^m$, then V additionally has a canonical structure as an object in LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}. Moreover, the same direct sum decomposition of Equation 6.1 holds.

This is the analogue of [Bra18, Lemma 2.11]. Note that we only obtain a weaker result if \mathfrak{A} fails to be hereditary. Indeed, the impossibility to split off torus summands in LCA_{\mathfrak{A}} is a key reason why the theory is more complicated than in [Bra18].

Proof. (Claim 1) We note that $V \subseteq M$ can alternatively be described as the connected component of the neutral element since V is connected and Ddiscrete. As the action of \mathfrak{A} is by continuous maps, the image of a connected set is connected, so it necessarily maps V into itself. It follows that V is an algebraic right \mathfrak{A} -submodule. Being a subgroup, the action of \mathfrak{A} is clearly still continuous, so it is also a topological right \mathfrak{A} -module, i.e. $V \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. In LCA, we know that the quotient M/V is discrete, so V is open (it is the

preimage of the open $\{0\}$ under the quotient map) in M and thus clopen. Hence, we get a subobject

$$V \hookrightarrow M$$

in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ and the inclusion is an admissible monic. From Lemma 5.2 we learn that V is algebraically an injective right \mathfrak{A} -module. Thus, as algebraic \mathfrak{A} -module maps, the injection

$$V \hookrightarrow M$$
 (in $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$)

splits and we get a direct sum decomposition $M \simeq V \oplus D'$ for some complement D' in $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Quotienting out V, we see that D' is algebraically isomorphic to D, but since both carry the discrete topology, this is equivalent to them being isomorphic in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Similarly, the algebraic right \mathfrak{A} -module section $D' \hookrightarrow M$ is tautologically continuous as the preimage of any open is trivially open in the discrete topology. Thus, we also get a section in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$, i.e. we have

$$M \simeq V \oplus D$$

in $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$. This proves the first claim.

(Claim 2) We adapt the proof of Claim 1. Again, V can be uniquely characterized as the connected component. The same argument shows $V \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ and again we obtain that $V \hookrightarrow M$ is a subobject in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Next, apply Lemma 5.4 to V. We obtain a canonical admissible epic

$$q:V \twoheadrightarrow V$$

where \tilde{V} is a vector \mathfrak{A} -module. By Lemma 5.2 we deduce that \tilde{V} is algebraically an injective \mathfrak{A} -module. However, being an epic in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$, q is also an epic in $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Since \mathfrak{A} is hereditary, all quotients of an injective module are again injective, cf. [Lam99, (3.22) Theorem]. Thus, V is also injective as an algebraic right module. Now, proceed as in the proof of Claim 1. \Box

Example 6.2. Let us demonstrate that the assumption of the order \mathfrak{A} being hereditary is truly necessary. Let $G \simeq \mathbb{Z}/n$ be a cyclic group. We work with right $\mathbb{Z}[G]$ -modules, where $\mathbb{Z}[G] \simeq \mathbb{Z}[t]/(t^n - 1)$ is the group ring. We recall that the trivial *G*-module \mathbb{Z} has the standard projective resolution

$$\left[\cdots \xrightarrow{N} \mathbb{Z}[G] \xrightarrow{1-t} \mathbb{Z}[G] \xrightarrow{N} \mathbb{Z}[G] \xrightarrow{1-t} \mathbb{Z}[G]\right]_{-\infty,0} \xrightarrow{\Sigma} \mathbb{Z}, \qquad (6.2)$$

where $N := 1 + t + \cdots + t^{n-1}$ is the norm operator of G and Σ sends each $g \in G$ to 1. Write $N_G := \operatorname{im}(N) \subseteq \mathbb{Z}[G]$ for the norm ideal, and $I_G := \operatorname{im}(1-t) \subseteq \mathbb{Z}[G]$ for the augmentation ideal. We have the short exact sequence

$$N_G \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}[G] \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{R}[G]/N_G$$

inducing the long exact sequence

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{i}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z},\mathbb{R}[G]) \to \operatorname{Ext}^{i}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z},\mathbb{R}[G]/N_{G}) \xrightarrow{\partial} \operatorname{Ext}^{i+1}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z},N_{G}) \to \operatorname{Ext}^{i+1}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z},\mathbb{R}[G])$$

and the two outer terms vanish since $\mathbb{R}[G]$ is an injective module (Lemma 5.2). Thus, we obtain an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{R}[G]/N_G) \xrightarrow{\partial} \operatorname{Ext}^{2}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z}, N_G).$$

Next, observe that $\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{\sim} N_G$, $1 \mapsto N$, is an isomorphism of $\mathbb{Z}[G]$ -modules. Hence, $\operatorname{Ext}^2_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z}, N_G) \cong H^2(G, \mathbb{Z})$ and the latter is known to be isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}/n (this computation can easily be done using the resolution in Equation 6.2). Instead of unwinding ∂ , let us describe the Ext^1 -group on the left explicitly. Using $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{R}[G]/N_G) \cong \mathbf{R} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{R}[G]/N_G[1])$, and the standard resolution, we learn that giving an element of Ext^1 is equivalent to giving a morphism of complexes

and since a $\mathbb{Z}[G]$ -module morphism is defined on $\mathbb{Z}[G]$ itself by assigning a value to 1_G , the possible maps α can only be multiplication $1_G \mapsto 1_G \cdot \alpha_0$ with $\alpha_0 \in \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}$. These maps are precisely those corresponding under ∂ to $H^2(G,\mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/n$. Next, let us concretely construct the extension corresponding to the element of the Ext¹-group. To this end, we need to form the pushout M_{α} of

Concretely, that is

$$M_{\alpha} := \frac{\{(a,b) \mid a \in \mathbb{Z}[G], b \in \mathbb{R}[G]/N_G\}}{\text{all pairs } (x(1-t), \overline{x}\alpha) \text{ with } x \in \mathbb{Z}[G]}$$

We then get a short exact sequence

$$\mathbb{R}[G]/N_G \hookrightarrow M_\alpha \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{Z}$$

in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}$; the maps are $b \mapsto (0, b)$ and $(a, b) \mapsto \Sigma a$. On the level of the underlying LCA groups it looks like $\mathbb{R}^{n-1} \oplus \mathbb{T} \hookrightarrow M_{\alpha} \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{Z}$ in LCA. If this sequence splits in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}$, then so it does in $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}$. However, unless $\alpha = [0]$ in $H^2(G, \mathbb{Z})$, this is impossible.

Example 6.3. The same computation can be adapted to many other finite groups. For example, for $G := D_{2n}$ the dihedral group of 2n elements, $H^2(D_{2n},\mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2$ also gives rise to an analogous example.

Theorem 6.4. Suppose \mathfrak{A} is a hereditary order.

- (1) Every $M \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},nss}$ admits an isomorphism $M \cong V \oplus T \oplus D$, where V is a vector right \mathfrak{A} -module, T a right \mathfrak{A} -module and finitedimensional real torus, and D a discrete right \mathfrak{A} -module.
- (2) Every $M \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$ admits an isomorphism $M \cong V \oplus G \oplus C$, where V is a vector right \mathfrak{A} -module, G a right \mathfrak{A} -module and finite rank free \mathbb{Z} -module, and C a compact right \mathfrak{A} -module.

The analogous claims hold for left modules. For \mathfrak{A} the maximal order of a Dedekind domain this is due to Levin [Lev73]. For non-hereditary orders we cannot expect such direct sum decompositions to exist.

Proof. (1) We work with right modules. The proof of [Bra18, Proposition 2.14] can be adapted with the following change: As M has no small subgroups, its underlying LCA group is isomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{T}^m \oplus D$ for D some discrete group. Now by Lemma 6.1 (2) this can be strengthened to a direct sum decomposition $M \cong E \oplus D$ in LCA_A with $D \in \mathsf{LCA}_A$ discrete and $E \in \mathsf{LCA}_A$ having underlying LCA group $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{T}^m$ (as witnessed by Example 6.2 this step required \mathfrak{A} to be hereditary). Now, $E^{\vee} \in \mathfrak{ALCA}$ has underlying LCA group $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{Z}^m$. Use the left module version of Lemma 6.1 to promote this to $E^{\vee} \cong V \oplus G$ in \mathfrak{ALCA} for V a left vector module and G a discrete left module with underlying group \mathbb{Z}^n . Dualizing again, we get $E \cong V^{\vee} \oplus G^{\vee}$ in LCA_A , and G^{\vee} is a torus as required. (2) This argument is Pontryagin dual, using that duality exchanges compactly generated modules with those without small subgroups, Lemma 3.10.

Combining all these results, we obtain some further flexibility with regards to decompositions in the style of Theorem 4.1, even without having to assume that \mathfrak{A} be hereditary.

Lemma 6.5. Suppose $M \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Then there exist exact sequences

$$C \hookrightarrow M \twoheadrightarrow V \oplus D$$
 and $V' \oplus C' \hookrightarrow M \twoheadrightarrow D'$ (6.3)

with C, C' compact, V, V' vector \mathfrak{A} -modules and D, D' discrete.

Proof. We construct the sequence on the left first: By Theorem 4.1 (1) there exists an exact sequence $H \hookrightarrow M \twoheadrightarrow D'$ with $H \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$ and D' discrete. Further, by Lemma 5.3 there is an exact sequence $C \hookrightarrow H \twoheadrightarrow W$ with C compact and $W \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ having underlying LCA group isomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{Z}^m$ for suitable n, m. This yields a filtration $C \hookrightarrow H \hookrightarrow M$ and Noether's Lemma for exact categories ([Büh10, Lemma 3.5]) tells us that

$$H/C \hookrightarrow M/C \twoheadrightarrow M/H$$

is exact in $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Unravelling these quotients, we learn that

$$W \hookrightarrow M/C \twoheadrightarrow D'$$

is exact. Now, by Lemma 6.1 (1) the module W splits as a direct sum $W \cong V \oplus \tilde{D}$ with V a vector \mathfrak{A} -module and \tilde{D} discrete in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Thus, by the above exact sequence, V is a subobject of M/C. However, by Theorem

5.13 vector modules are injective objects, so V is a direct summand of M/C. The complementary summand, call it J, then is an extension $\tilde{D} \hookrightarrow J \twoheadrightarrow D'$ of discrete modules, so J is itself discrete; and $M/C \cong V \oplus J$. Combining these results, we arrive at the exact sequence $C \hookrightarrow M \twoheadrightarrow V \oplus J$ with J discrete. Letting D := J proves our first claim. All arguments so far work for both left and right \mathfrak{A} -modules. Thus, we obtain the second exact sequence, i.e. Equation 6.3 on the right, by using the first exact sequence for the left module M^{\vee} and dualizing back.

We record an elementary fact:

Lemma 6.6. A module $M \in \mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is finitely generated over \mathfrak{A} if and only if it is finitely generated as a \mathbb{Z} -module.

Lemma 6.7. Let \mathfrak{A} be an arbitrary order in A.

- (1) Every discrete module $M \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ has a discrete projective cover P in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. If M is compactly generated, P is also compactly generated.
- (2) Every compact module $M \in LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ has a compact injective hull I in $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$. If M has no small subgroups, I also has no small subgroups.

Proof. (1) The category $\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ has enough projectives, so we find a projective cover $P \twoheadrightarrow M$. Equipping P with the discrete topology, the epic is tautologically continuous and even an admissible epic in LCA_A because in the case of the discrete topology there is nothing to check topologically. For the second statement, note that a discrete module is compactly generated if and only if its underlying additive group is finitely generated by [Mos67, Theorem 2.5], so M is a finitely generated \mathfrak{A} -module by Lemma 6.6, and thus its projective cover is also finitely generated over \mathfrak{A} , and using the converse of Lemma 6.6, and [Mos67, Theorem 2.5] we deduce that P is compactly generated. (2) Pontryagin dual to (1), using that duality swaps compactly generated modules with those without small subgroups, Lemma 3.10.

Corollary 6.8. Let \mathfrak{A} be an arbitrary order in A.

- (1) Every discrete module $M \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ has a projective resolution by discrete modules in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ of length at most the projective dimension of M in $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$.
- (2) Every compact module $M \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ has an injective resolution by compact modules in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ of length at most the projective dimension of M^{\vee} in $\mathfrak{A}\mathsf{Mod}$.

Proof. Inductive usage of Lemma 6.7.

Example 6.9. For any finite group $G \neq 1$, the global dimension of $\mathbb{Z}[G]$ is infinite. To see this, use that G contains a non-trivial cyclic subgroup $C \simeq \mathbb{Z}/m$ with $m \geq 2$. The group cohomology of a cyclic group is periodic in the strictly positive degree range (compare Example 6.2, where we recall this) with $H^{2n}(C,\mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/m$ for all $n \geq 1$. Thus,

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}^{2n}(\mathbb{Z},\operatorname{Ind}_{C}^{G}(\mathbb{Z})) = H^{2n}(G,\operatorname{Ind}_{C}^{G}(\mathbb{Z})) \cong H^{2n}(C,\mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/m \neq 0.$$

The following result complements Corollary 6.8 regarding resolutions of opposite nature.

Corollary 6.10. Let \mathfrak{A} be an arbitrary order in A.

(1) Suppose $T \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ has underlying LCA group \mathbb{T}^n for some $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. Then it admits a (possibly infinitely long) projective resolution in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ starting in a vector \mathfrak{A} -module V,

 $\cdots \longrightarrow P^2 \longrightarrow P^1 \longrightarrow V \twoheadrightarrow T$

and if \mathfrak{A} has finite global dimension s, then the length of this resolution is at most s + 1.

(2) Suppose $G \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ has underlying LCA group \mathbb{Z}^n for some $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. Then it admits a (possibly infinitely long) injective resolution in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ starting in a vector \mathfrak{A} -module V,

 $G \hookrightarrow V \longrightarrow I^1 \longrightarrow I^2 \longrightarrow \cdots,$

and if \mathfrak{A} has finite global dimension s, then the length of this resolution is at most s + 1.

Proof. (1) By Lemma 5.4 (2) there exists an exact sequence $D \hookrightarrow P \twoheadrightarrow T$ with D discrete. By Lemma 6.7 discrete modules permit projective covers in LCA_A. Inductively, this produces a projective resolution of T, the initial step being a vector module (which is projective by Theorem 5.13) and all further terms discrete. In particular, since the projective resolution of D can be carried out in Mod_A , and then just be imported to LCA_A by equipping every term with the discrete topology, the claim about the projective dimension follows. (2) Pontryagin dual to (1).

Example 6.11. If T has the torus \mathbb{T}^{ω} for some strictly infinite cardinal ω as its underlying LCA group, then \mathbb{T}^{ω} has small subgroups (since its Pontryagin dual is not compactly generated), and Moskowitz proves that T does not even admit a projective resolution only in LCA, [Mos67, Theorem 3.6 (2)]. Hence, the finite-dimensionality is crucial in Corollary 6.10. Similarly, if Dis any discrete module in LCA_A, then if we take an injective resolution of Din Mod_A, say $D \hookrightarrow I^{\bullet}$ and view this as an exact complex in LCA_A, each I^n equipped with the discrete topology, then in general there is no hope that the modules I^n are injective objects also in the category LCA_A.

We remind the reader that all global dimensions, including $+\infty$, can occur, see Remark 10.4.

7. Structure theorems

Below, we shall make frequent use of Schlichting's concepts of left and right *s*-filtering categories, see [Bra18, Definition 3.1] or [BGW16, Appendix A].

Proposition 7.1. The full subcategory $LCA_{\mathfrak{A},cq} \hookrightarrow LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is left s-filtering.

Proof. Firstly, it is left filtering. This amounts to the purely topological fact that the closure of a compactly generated LCA group inside a locally compact group is again compactly generated. The proof of [Bra18, Lemma 3.2] works verbatim. It remains to prove that the inclusion $LCA_{\mathfrak{A},cg} \hookrightarrow LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is left special. If $G'' \hookrightarrow G \xrightarrow{q} G'$ is an exact sequence with $G' \in LCA_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$, apply Lemma 6.5 to G. We arrive at the solid arrows in the following commutative diagram



We explain how to set this up: (1) The map h is defined as the composition $q \circ i$. (2) Since C is compact, its set-theoretic image $\operatorname{im}_{\mathsf{Set}}(h)$ is also compact, and thus in particular closed in G'. As a result, the set-theoretic image agrees with the image in the sense of the category $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ (this is a subtle issue with terminology, see [Bra18, §2, Notation]), and moreover the quotient $G'/\operatorname{im}(h)$ exists in LCA_A. (3) Proceeding along the resulting quotient map in the diagram above, the dashed arrow w exists by the universal property of cokernels. Since $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is quasi-abelian, it is idempotent complete and thus by [Büh10, Proposition 7.6] the morphism w must be an admissible epic. Let us try to characterize the underlying LCA group of $X := G' / \operatorname{im}(h)$. As G' is compactly generated, so are all its quotients by [Mos67, Theorem 2.6]. Thus, as an LCA group, we have $X \simeq \mathbb{R}^{\hat{A}} \oplus \mathbb{Z}^{B} \oplus C$ for suitable $A, B \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and C compact. On the other hand, $V \oplus D$ has the underlying LCA group $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus D$ with D discrete and by [Mor77, Corollary 2 to Theorem 7] all closed subgroups can be classified, and as a result all admissible quotients can only have the underlying LCA group $\mathbb{R}^N \oplus \mathbb{T}^M \oplus D'$ for suitable $N, M \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and D' discrete. Having these two contrasting structural results, we learn that X can only have $\mathbb{R}^N \oplus \mathbb{T}^M \oplus \mathbb{Z}^B$ as its underlying LCA group for suitable $N, M, B \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ (a very clean way to see this is to use the canonical filtration of [HS07, Proposition 2.2] in LCA since it canonically identifies the three direct summands as graded pieces of the filtration). Apply Lemma 5.3 to X, giving us an exact sequence

$$T \hookrightarrow X \twoheadrightarrow W$$
 in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$

such that the underlying LCA groups of T are \mathbb{T}^M , and $\mathbb{R}^N \oplus \mathbb{Z}^B$ for W. Apply Lemma 6.1 (1) to W to promote this exact sequence to

$$T \hookrightarrow X \twoheadrightarrow V \oplus D$$
 in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$

with \tilde{V} a vector \mathfrak{A} -module and \tilde{D} having underlying LCA group \mathbb{Z}^B . We pick admissible epics from projective objects $P_i \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ to these objects as follows: (1) $c_1 : P_1 \to T$ can be produced by Lemma 5.4 (2), in this case P_1 is a vector \mathfrak{A} -module; (2) $c_2 : P_2 \to \tilde{V}$ is just the identity since by Theorem 5.13 the object \tilde{V} is itself already projective, and (3) $c_3 : P_3 \to \tilde{D}$ is taken as a projective cover, which exists by Lemma 6.7; in this case P_3 is a compactly generated discrete \mathfrak{A} -module. Since morphisms from projectives can be lifted along admissible epics, we obtain the lift \tilde{c}_{23} of



Recalling that $X = G' / \operatorname{im}(h)$, take this morphism $P_1 \oplus P_2 \oplus P_3 \to G' / \operatorname{im}(h)$, which arises as the sum $c_1 + \tilde{c}_{23}$, and lift it also along the admissible epic r in Diagram 7.1. Call this lift \hat{c} . Then we arrive at a commutative diagram



where \hat{c}' is a further lift of the morphism \hat{c} along the admissible epic q. Let us study the morphism $h + \hat{c}$: Firstly, it is a morphism in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Next, tracing through the construction, it is surjective: all elements in $\operatorname{im}(h) \subseteq G'$ are of course surjected on by C, and $P_1 \oplus P_2 \oplus P_3$ were constructed just in such a way to surject onto the quotient $X = G'/\operatorname{im}(h)$; see Diagram 7.2. Finally, since C is compact, P_1, P_2 are vector \mathfrak{A} -modules, and P_3 is compactly generated, $C \oplus P_1 \oplus P_2 \oplus P_3$ is compactly generated in total. In particular, it is σ -compact (i.e. a countable union of compact sets), and thus by Pontryagin's Open Mapping Theorem, $h + \hat{c}$ is an open map, see [Mor77, Theorem 3]. Being surjective and open, $h + \hat{c}$ is an admissible epic in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$, Lemma 3.7. Thus, we can set up the following commutative diagram



where $K := \ker(h + \hat{c})$, and the dashed arrow stems from the universal property of kernels. Since $C \oplus P_1 \oplus P_2 \oplus P_3$ is compactly generated, so is its subobject K by [Mos67, Theorem 2.6 (2)], and thus the entire top row is an exact sequence with objects in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$. This confirms that $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is left special.

Corollary 7.2. For an exact sequence $G' \hookrightarrow G \twoheadrightarrow G''$ of objects in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ we have $G \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$ if and only if $G', G'' \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$.

Proof. [BGW16, Proposition A.2 and Definition A.1 (1)].

Remark 7.3. In particular, $LCA_{\mathfrak{A},cg} \hookrightarrow LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is closed under extensions and thus carries a natural exact structure itself, [Büh10, Lemma 10.20].

Remark 7.4. By duality (Proposition 3.5) and the exchange properties of Lemma 3.10, Proposition 7.1 literally yields that

$$_{nss,\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA}^{op} \hookrightarrow {}_{\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA}^{op}$$

is left s-filtering. However, by the symmetry of left and right s-filtering, this just means that $_{nss,\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA} \hookrightarrow_{\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA}$ is right s-filtering. Applying this observation to the opposite order \mathfrak{A} , we get that $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},nss} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is also right s-filtering. Using duality on this statement and Lemma 3.10 once more, we learn that $_{cg,\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA}^{op} \hookrightarrow_{\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA}^{op}$ is right s-filtering, and thus $_{cg,\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA} \hookrightarrow_{\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA}$ is left s-filtering. In particular, Corollary 7.2 generalizes to $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},nss}$, and all full subcategories

 $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},nss} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}, \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}, {}_{cg,\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA} \hookrightarrow {}_{\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA} \hookrightarrow {}_{\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA} \hookrightarrow {}_{\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA}$ are fully exact subcategories and hence carry the structure of an exact category themselves.

8. Injectives and projectives

We determine the projective objects in $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$. To this end, we follow the strategy of Moskowitz in [Mos67], who deals with the case of LCA itself.

Proposition 8.1. Let \mathfrak{A} be an arbitrary order.

- Every injective object in LCA_A is isomorphic to V ⊕ I, where V is a vector 𝔄-module and I compact connected such that I[∨] is projective as an algebraic left 𝔄-module.
- (2) Every projective object in $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is isomorphic to $V \oplus P$, where V is a vector \mathfrak{A} -module and P discrete such that P is projective as an algebraic right \mathfrak{A} -module.

Conversely, all objects of this shape are injective resp. projective.

Proof. (1) Suppose $G \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is injective. Firstly, we claim that G must be injective in $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ as well. To see this, let $M' \hookrightarrow M \twoheadrightarrow M''$ be any exact sequence in $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Equipped with the discrete topology, this is exact in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Let $f : M \to G$ be any morphism in $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. As M carries the discrete topology, f is actually continuous, tautologically. Since G is injective in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$, there exists a lift f' as in



and if we forget the topology, the underlying algebraic morphism of f' is of course also a lift of f in $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Thus, G is injective in $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Next, we claim that G must be connected. To this end, consider the exact sequence $\mathfrak{A} \hookrightarrow A \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R} \twoheadrightarrow T$, where the middle term is viewed with the standard real topology, and T is plainly defined as the corresponding quotient. For any element $x \in G$ we define a morphism $f : \mathfrak{A} \to G$ by $f(\alpha) := x \cdot \alpha$. As G is injective, we can lift f along



and (following Moskowitz's idea) note that since $A \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}$ is connected (it has underlying LCA group \mathbb{R}^d for $d := \dim_{\mathbb{Q}} A$), the image of the continuous map \tilde{f} must also be connected. However, $\tilde{f}(\mathfrak{l}_{\mathfrak{A}}) = f(\mathfrak{l}_{\mathfrak{A}}) = x$ was arbitrary, so we deduce that all elements of G lie in the connected component of the neutral element. Thus, G is connected. Next, apply Lemma 6.5 to G, giving an exact sequence

$$V \oplus C \hookrightarrow G \xrightarrow{q} D$$
 in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$

with V a vector \mathfrak{A} -module, C compact and D discrete. As G is connected, its image under the quotient map q is also connected, but D is discrete, so we must have D = 0 as q is also surjective. Next, let C^0 denote the connected component of C; at first this only makes sense in LCA. However, for every $\alpha \in \mathfrak{A}$ we get the solid arrows of the commutative diagram (of LCA groups)



The composition of maps from the connected C^0 on the upper left to the totally disconnected C/C^0 on the lower right is necessarily zero by continuity. Thus, the dashed arrow exists by the universal property of kernels. As this holds for all $\alpha \in \mathfrak{A}$, it follows that the closed subgroup C^0 actually defines a subobject of C in LCA_A, and the quotient C/C^0 makes sense in LCA_A accordingly. Thus, we obtain a new exact sequence

$$V \oplus C^0 \hookrightarrow V \oplus C \xrightarrow{q'} C/C^0.$$

Again, since G is connected, but C/C^0 totally disconnected, we must have $C/C^0 = 0$ because q' is surjective. It follows that $G \cong V \oplus C^0$, where

V is a vector \mathfrak{A} -module. Recall that if a product of objects is injective, then so are its factors. Hence, C^0 is compact and injective in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. By Pontryagin duality, it follows that $C^{0\vee}$ is a discrete projective left \mathfrak{A} -module. This proves (1) for right modules. Note that the same argument works for left modules: just change that f needs to be defined as $f(\alpha) := \alpha \cdot x$ in the context of Diagram 8.1. Finally, (2) follows by Pontryagin duality, noting that it exchanges injectives with projectives, compact with discrete, and duals of vector \mathfrak{A} -modules remain vector \mathfrak{A} -modules. (3) We conclude by showing that all such objects are indeed injective resp. projective. For the vector \mathfrak{A} -module summand, this is just Theorem 5.13. Next, if P is projective in $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ and discrete, then any lift as algebraic module maps is continuous, because any map originating from a discrete space is continuous. For injectives, argue by duality.

9. Isolating the real part

We recall from [Bra18] that $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathbb{R}C}$ is our short-hand for $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathbb{Z},\mathbb{R}C}$, i.e. the category of LCA groups which admit an isomorphism to $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus C$ for some *n* and some compact *C*. As was shown *loc. cit.* this is an idempotent complete exact category, [Bra18, Lemma 3.10]. These results turn out to generalize to topological \mathfrak{A} -modules. Let us quickly set this up to the extent which we shall need later:

Definition 9.1. Let $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ denote the full subcategory of $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ whose objects have underlying LCA group in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathbb{R}C}$.

So far, this only equips $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ with the structure of an additive category. Better though, let us show that the definition agrees with another ostensibly more restrictive definition:

Lemma 9.2. Equivalently, $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ can be defined as the full subcategory of $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ whose objects admit a direct sum decomposition $G \cong V \oplus C$ with V a vector \mathfrak{A} -module and C compact in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$.

Proof. Suppose $G \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is as in Definition 9.1. The dual $G^{\vee} \in \mathfrak{A}\mathsf{LCA}$ has underlying LCA group of the shape $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \tilde{D}$ for \tilde{D} discrete, so Lemma 6.1 (1) applies, allowing us to decompose G^{\vee} in $\mathfrak{A}\mathsf{LCA}$ as a direct sum of a vector left \mathfrak{A} -module and a discrete module, and dualizing back, we get an isomorphism $G \cong V \oplus C$ with V a vector module and C compact in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. The converse is clear.

Proposition 9.3. Let \mathfrak{A} be an arbitrary order.

- (1) The full subcategory $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is closed under extensions.
- (2) The full subcategory $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is left filtering; indeed filtering by a clopen subobject.
- (3) The category $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ is idempotent complete.

Proof. This can be proven largely as in [Bra18], just by replacing some ingredients by their analogues in our setting. We give a sketch: (1) By our definition of $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$, this is only a condition on the underlying LCA groups. In particular, it follows from $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathbb{R}C}$ being closed under extensions in LCA, which is [Bra18, Lemma 3.8] for $\mathcal{O} = \mathbb{Z}$. (2) Suppose $f : G' \to G$ is any morphism with $G' \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$. Apply Lemma 9.2 to G'. Next, applying the right hand side sequence of Lemma 6.5 to G, we then arrive at the diagram below on the left:



As h is continuous, it necessarily maps the connected V' to zero in the discrete D, and maps the compact C' to a compact subgroup of D, which is necessarily finite. Now, we obtain from this the diagram above on the right, where K is simply defined as the kernel. As $D/\operatorname{im}(h)$ is discrete, K is open. The dashed lift exists by the universal property of kernels, and moreover K can be unraveled to arise as the extension $V \oplus C \hookrightarrow K \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{im}(h)$. Since $\operatorname{im}(h)$ is finite discrete, it is trivially compact, and thus by part (1) of our claim, $K \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ and the dashed arrow is the required factorization. For more details, see the proof of [Bra18, Lemma 3.9], which uses the same pattern. (3) Just as [Bra18, Lemma 3.10] this follows from that in part (2) we actually showed that any morphism from $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ to an object $G \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ factors over a clopen subobject $K \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$, i.e. one with discrete quotient. The argument *loc. cit.* then also works in our generality.

Corollary 9.4. $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ is an idempotent complete fully exact subcategory of $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$.

Proof. By Proposition 9.3 (1) it is an extension-closed subcategory of $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$, so by [Büh10, Lemma 10.20] this induces a canonical exact structure on $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$, and moreover renders it a fully exact subcategory [Büh10, Definition 10.21]. Proposition 9.3 (3) settles being idempotent complete.

From now on, we may therefore regard $LCA_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ as an exact category.

Definition 9.5. Let $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}D}$ denote the full subcategory of $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ whose objects have underlying LCA group $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus D$ for some n and some discrete D.

We will only work with this category in passing later (namely in the formulation of Lemma 10.2), but note that under duality it gets sent to $_{\mathbb{R}C,\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA}^{op}$, so the above results can all be transported to $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}D}$ by dualization, in the

spirit of Remark 7.4. In particular, it is an idempotent complete fully exact subcategory of $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$, and the full subcategory $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is right filtering. We have no use for these facts however, so we leave the details to the reader.

Definition 9.6. Let $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},C}$ (resp. $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},D}$) be the full subcategory of $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ of compact (resp. discrete) objects.

All these considerations carry over to left modules with the obvious modifications. Clearly $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},D} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is an equivalence of categories, by simply forgetting the topology and conversely equipping all objects with the discrete topology. In particular, $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},D}$ is an abelian category. Pontryagin duality induces an equivalence $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},C}^{op} \xrightarrow{\sim} D_{\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA}$, so the compact counterpart is also naturally an abelian category.

Example 9.7. The category $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ is not abelian. Indeed, already in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathbb{R}C}$ the morphism $\mathbb{R} \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{T}$ has no kernel. It is an admissible epic in LCA , but not an admissible epic in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathbb{R}C}$.

Proposition 9.8. The subcategory $LCA_{\mathfrak{A},C} \hookrightarrow LCA_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ is left s-filtering.

Proof. This is proven exactly as in [Bra18, Lemma 3.11]. Left filtering: Given $V \oplus C \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ with V a vector module and C compact and $a: C' \to V \oplus C$ is any morphism with C' compact, then the set-theoretic image $\operatorname{im}_{\mathsf{Set}}(a)$ is again a compact right \mathfrak{A} -module. Since V has no nontrivial compact subgroups, we obtain $\operatorname{im}_{\mathsf{Set}}(a) \subseteq C$ and therefore the exact sequence

$$\operatorname{im}_{\mathsf{Set}}(a) \hookrightarrow V \oplus C \twoheadrightarrow V \oplus C / \operatorname{im}_{\mathsf{Set}}$$

in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. As all objects in this sequence lie in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$, it follows that it is also exact in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ since $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ is fully exact in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Thus, the initial arrow $\mathrm{im}_{\mathsf{Set}}(a) \hookrightarrow V \oplus C$ is an admissible monic in the category $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$. Thus,

 $C \longrightarrow \operatorname{im}_{\mathsf{Set}}(a) \hookrightarrow V \oplus C$

is the required factorization which shows that $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is left filtering. Left special: Briefly, if $V \oplus C \twoheadrightarrow C'$ is an admissible epic with $C' \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},C}$, then we obtain a commutative diagram



and since $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ is idempotent complete, [Büh10, Proposition 7.6] implies that *b* must be an admissible epic. A topological consideration (relying

only on the underlying LCA groups) can now be carried out, exactly as in [Bra18, Lemma 3.11], contrasting that $V \simeq \mathbb{R}^n$ as an LCA group, but $C'/\operatorname{im}(h)$ being compact. The idea is that $C'/\operatorname{im}(h)$ can only be some torus, but this again is only possible if the kernel of b contains some summand of the shape \mathbb{Z}^i with i > 0, but this is impossible in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathbb{R}C}$. As in *loc. cit.*, we deduce that h must have been an admissible epic to start with. This proves left special.

Proposition 9.9. Let \mathfrak{A} be an order in a finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} algebra A. Define $A_{\mathbb{R}} := A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. For every localizing invariant $K : \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{ex}} \to A$ (as in Equation 3.1), there is a canonical equivalence $K(\operatorname{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}) \xrightarrow{\sim} K(A_{\mathbb{R}})$.

Proof. Again, we follow the pattern of [Bra18]. The steps are as follows: (1) Since $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},C} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ is left *s*-filtering by Proposition 9.8, we get an exact sequence of exact categories

$$\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},C} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C} \twoheadrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}/\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},C}.$$

We recall that the quotient exact category $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}/\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},C}$ arises as the localization $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}[\Sigma_e^{-1}]$, where Σ_{\in} is the collection of admissible epics with kernel in the subcategory $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},C}$. Following Schlichting [Sch04] this is again an exact category.

(2) We claim that there is an exact equivalence of exact categories

$$\Psi: \mathsf{Mod}_{A_{\mathbb{R}}, fg} \longrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R}C}/\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}, C}.$$

We define the functor Ψ by sending a finitely generated $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ -module to its underlying real vector space with its natural real vector space topology. To this end, note that A is a finite-dimensional Q-algebra, so $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ is a finitedimensional \mathbb{R} -algebra, and hence all finitely generated modules over it are also finite-dimensional over the reals. Any such vector space has a canonical real topology and it is of course locally compact. Moreover, every \mathbb{R} -linear map is automatically continuous with respect to this topology. This shows that Ψ is a functor. It is now easy to check that it is additive and moreover exact. Next, we claim that Ψ is fully faithful. This is also easy: The essential image in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ (i.e. without quotienting out $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},C}$) consists only of vector modules, so any continuous morphism between them is (a) an abelian group map, (b) by divisibility then also a Q-vector space map, and (c) since it is also continuous, a density argument shows that it is even an \mathbb{R} -vector space map. Thus, the functor $\mathsf{Mod}_{A_{\mathbb{R}},fg} \longrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ is fully faithful. Quotienting out $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},C}$ does not harm this as we invert admissible epics with kernel in $LCA_{\mathfrak{A},C}$, but a real vector space has no non-trivial compact subgroups. Hence, Ψ is also fully faithful. Finally, we claim that Ψ is essentially surjective: Given any $G \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$, Lemma 9.2 yields the exact sequence, $C \hookrightarrow G \xrightarrow{q} V$, and after inverting Σ_e , q becomes an isomorphism, and V lies in the image of Ψ , so G lies in the essential image. Being exact, fully faithful and essentially surjective, Ψ is an exact equivalence of exact

categories.

(3) As K is localizing, Schlichting's Localization Theorem (in the formulation of [Bra18, Theorem 4.1]) yields a fiber sequence in A of the shape

$$K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},C}) \longrightarrow K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}) \stackrel{a}{\longrightarrow} K(\mathsf{Mod}_{A_{\mathbb{R}},fg}),$$

where we have used Step (2) to identify the third term. On the other hand, by the Eilenberg swindle, $K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},C}) = 0$, cf. [Bra18, Lemma 4.2], since infinite products of compact spaces are compact by Tychonoff's Theorem. Thus, *a* must be an equivalence in A. Finally, since $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ is a semisimple algebra, every right $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ -module is projective (see §3.1). Hence, $K(\mathsf{Mod}_{A_{\mathbb{R}},fg}) \xrightarrow{\sim} K(A_{\mathbb{R}})$. This finishes the proof.

10. The compactly generated piece

Proposition 10.1. For every localizing invariant $K : \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{ex}} \to \mathsf{A}$, there is a canonical equivalence $K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}) \xrightarrow{\sim} K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cq})$.

This generalizes a corresponding result for $\mathfrak{A} := \mathcal{O}$ the maximal order in a number field, which appears as the first step in the proof of [Bra18, Lemma 4.3].

Lemma 10.2. Suppose \mathfrak{A} is an arbitrary order.

(1) Suppose $G \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},nss}$. Then there exists an exact sequence

$$Y_2 \hookrightarrow Y_1 \twoheadrightarrow G$$

with
$$Y_1, Y_2 \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}D}$$
.

(2) Suppose

$$X \hookrightarrow Y \twoheadrightarrow Y'$$

is an exact sequence in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},nss}$ with $Y, Y' \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}D}$. Then it follows that $X \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}D}$.

Note that since in (1) all terms of the sequence lie in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},nss}$, it makes no difference whether we speak of the sequence being exact in the category $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ or in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},nss}$; both concepts agree since $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},nss}$ is fully exact in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$.

Proof. (Step 1) We begin by addressing the first claim. Since $G \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},nss}$, its dual is compactly generated, i.e. $G^{\vee} \in {}_{cg,\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA}$, Lemma 3.10. By Lemma 5.3 there is an exact sequence $C \hookrightarrow G^{\vee} \twoheadrightarrow W$ in ${}_{\mathfrak{A}}\mathsf{LCA}$ with C compact and W having underlying LCA group $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{Z}^m$. Dualizing back, we get an exact sequence $H \hookrightarrow G \twoheadrightarrow D$ with H having underlying LCA group $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{T}^m$ and D discrete. We will set up a commutative diagram

as follows: (1) Since D is discrete, we may pick a projective cover P, which is still discrete, by Lemma 6.7, so $P \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}D}$. Being projective, the lift f' along the admissible epic w exists. (2) As H has underlying LCA group $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{T}^m$, by Lemma 5.4 (2) there exists a vector \mathfrak{A} -module V mapping to H through the admissible epic q. This sets up the diagram.

From this, we obtain a morphism h := f' + jq,

$$V \oplus P \xrightarrow{h} G. \tag{10.2}$$

(Step 2) A simple diagram chase shows that h is a surjective map. Since f' and jq are continuous \mathfrak{A} -module homomorphisms, so is their sum. Next, we claim that h is an open map. The underlying topological space of $V \oplus P$ is just the product $V \times P$ in Top, so the Cartesian opens $\{U_1 \times U_2\}_{U_1,U_2}$ with $U_1 \subseteq V$ open and $U_2 \subseteq P$ open form a basis of the topology. Hence, if $U \subseteq V \times P$ is an arbitrary open, we may write it as

$$U = \bigcup_{i \in \mathcal{I}} U_{1,i} \times U_{2,i}$$
 for suitable opens $U_{1,i} \subseteq V, U_{2,i} \subset P$,

and \mathcal{I} some index set. Then

$$h(U) = h\left(\bigcup_{i \in \mathcal{I}} U_{1,i} \times U_{2,i}\right) = \bigcup_{i \in \mathcal{I}} h(U_{1,i} \times U_{2,i}) = \bigcup_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \left(jq(U_{1,i}) + f'(U_{2,i})\right).$$

Now, the map j is open (since the quotient D by j in Diagram 10.1 is discrete, see [Mor77, Proposition 14]) and q is an admissible epic and therefore also open. Thus, jq is an open map, and thus $jq(U_{1,i})$ is an open set. It follows from Lemma 5.12 that all sets $jq(U_{1,i}) + f'(U_{2,i})$ are open, and thus h(U), being a union of open sets. As U was arbitrary, it follows that h is an open map. As h = f' + jq is open and surjective, it is an admissible epic. Hence, we can promote Equation 10.2 to an exact sequence

$$K \hookrightarrow V \oplus P \xrightarrow{h} G$$

in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$, where K is plainly defined as the kernel, so $K \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. As the underlying LCA group of $V \oplus P$ is $\mathbb{R}^{\ell} \oplus D'$ for some $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and D' discrete (i.e. $V \oplus P \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}D}$), the closed subgroup K must also lie in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}D}$ by [Mor77], Corollary 2 to Theorem 7, combined with the following Remark *loc. cit.* to exclude the possibility of a torus factor. Hence, letting $Y_2 := K$ and $Y_1 := V \oplus P$ proves our claim. Note that the same argument which showed $K \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}D}$ also settles our second claim. \Box

We actually need the dual formulation:

Lemma 10.3. Suppose \mathfrak{A} is an arbitrary order.

(1) Suppose $G \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cq}$. Then there exists an exact sequence

$$G \hookrightarrow Y^1 \twoheadrightarrow Y^2$$

with $Y^1, Y^2 \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$.

(2) Suppose

$$Y' \hookrightarrow Y \twoheadrightarrow X$$

is an exact sequence in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$ with $Y, Y' \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$. Then it follows that $X \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$. In other words: The full subcategory $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}$ is closed under cohernels in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$.

Proof. For $G \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$ we have $G^{\vee} \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}^{op},nss}$. Apply Lemma 10.2 to G^{\vee} , then dualize back and use Lemma 3.10.

Elaboration 1. The above proof is quick, but of course one can also prove this directly by dualizing the proof of Lemma 10.2. The topological argument is a little different in this case, and in some ways more involved. We sketch it: Firstly, given $G \in \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$, by Lemma 5.3 there is an exact sequence $C \hookrightarrow G \twoheadrightarrow W$ in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ with compact and W having underlying LCA group of the shape $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{Z}^m$. By Lemma 6.1 (1) one may isolate a vector \mathfrak{A} -module summand V in W, and being projective (Theorem 5.13), this quotient object of G splits off as a direct summand. Thus, we may write $G \cong G' \oplus V$. This decomposes G' as $C \hookrightarrow G' \twoheadrightarrow W'$ with W' having underlying group \mathbb{Z}^m . By Lemma 6.7 the compact C has a compact injective hull I, and by Lemma 5.4 there exists an admissible monic $W' \hookrightarrow V'$ with V' a vector module. We obtain the diagram



analogous to Diagram 10.1. This time we wish to prove that the sum $h := e + fq : G' \to I \oplus V'$ is a closed map. To this end, note that, as a topological space, G' is the disjoint union $G' = \coprod_{w \in W'} (C + \tilde{w})$, where \tilde{w} denotes an arbitrary (but fixed) lift of $w \in W'$ to G'. Thus, any closed subset $T \subseteq G'$ has the shape $T = \coprod (T_w + \tilde{w})$ with $T_w \subseteq C$ closed. Hence,

$$h(T) = \bigcup_{w \in W'} h(T_w + \tilde{w}) = \bigcup_w e(T_w) + e(\tilde{w}) + fq(T_w) + fq(\tilde{w})$$
$$= \bigcup_{w \in W'} e(T_w) + e(\tilde{w}) + f(w) = \prod_{w \in W'} (e(T_w + \tilde{w})) \times \{f(w)\}$$

We have $T_w \subseteq C$, but $e \mid_{C} = i$, which is a closed map since it is an admissible monic, so $e(T_w)$ is closed, and therefore also $e(T_w + \tilde{w})$ as translation is a homeomorphism. Note that, topologically, f embeds the lattice $W' \simeq \mathbb{Z}^m$ into a \mathbb{R}^m , so each value of f(w) is attained only once, explaining why the possibly countable union in the second line is a *disjoint* union. Each $e(T_w + \tilde{w})$ being closed, this means that h(T) is closed in $\coprod_{w \in W'} I \times \{w\} = I \times W'$, which in turn is closed in $I \times V'$, which is the underlying topological space of $I \oplus V'$. Armed with the previous lemma, we can prove the proposition.

Proof of Proposition 10.1. We use [Kel96, Theorem 12.1]. We note that the conditions C1 and C2 *loc. cit.* hold (or more specifically the conditions stated right below the axioms *loc. cit.*), thanks to Lemma 10.3. Moreover, since the resolution provided by our lemma is finite, this gives a triangulated equivalence of the bounded derived categories $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{D}^b(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg})$. This suffices to know that the inclusion functor $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$ induces an equivalence of stable ∞ -categories, [BluGT13, Corollary 5.11].

Remark 10.4. Since the topic of complications arising from high global dimension has come up, let us quickly recapitulate the situation:

- (1) Every hereditary order \mathfrak{A} has global dimension ≤ 1 , so these are regular.
- (2) Every maximal order A is hereditary, so these are covered by (1).
 See [CR90, (26.12) Theorem] for a proof.
- (3) Group rings $\mathbb{Z}[G]$ unfortunately have infinite global dimension unless G = 1. See Example 6.9.
- (4) Between global dimension ≤ 1 and ∞ , all other values are also possible. Jategaonkar [Jat73, Theorem 2, and Remark] gives (a) a construction of $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -orders in the matrix ring $M_n(\mathbb{Q})$ of global dimension n for any prescribed $n \geq 2$, and (b) on the last pages of the paper gives an example of orders $\mathfrak{A}_1, \mathfrak{A}_2 \subset M_{2n+1}(\mathbb{Q})$ with

$$\operatorname{gldim} \mathfrak{A}_1 - \operatorname{gldim} \mathfrak{A}_2 = n$$

for any chosen $n \ge 1$. As a little elaboration: Firstly, observe that if $\mathfrak{A} \subset A$ is an arbitrary order, then

gldim
$$\mathfrak{A} = \sup_{p} \left(\operatorname{gldim} \mathfrak{A} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(p)} \right),$$
 (10.3)

where p runs through all primes, [AuG60, Corollary to Proposition 2.6]. For example, take

$$\Gamma_3 := \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Z} & \mathbb{Z} & \mathbb{Z} \\ 5\mathbb{Z} & \mathbb{Z} & \mathbb{Z} \\ 5^2\mathbb{Z} & 5\mathbb{Z} & \mathbb{Z} \end{pmatrix} \subset M_3(\mathbb{Q}).$$

We have $\operatorname{gldim} \Gamma_3 \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(5)} = 2$ (this is Jategaonkar's example, [Jat73, Example after Theorem 2], over the discrete valuation ring $\mathbb{Z}_{(5)}$). For all primes $p \neq 5$, we have $\Gamma_3 \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(p)} = M_3(\mathbb{Z}_{(p)})$. By Morita invariance, the module category is equivalent to the one of $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$, so $\operatorname{gldim} \Gamma_3 \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(p)} = 1$. Finally, by Equation 10.3, this shows that $\operatorname{gldim} \mathfrak{A} = 2$. In a similar way, all the examples in Jategaonkar's paper can be promoted from the DVR situation to \mathbb{Z} -orders.

(5) All orders of finite global dimension are of course regular, so the methods of this paper apply to them. However, we must admit that

we are not aware of any "real life" case study of the ETNC where orders of finite global dimension > 1 have played a rôle.

11. Proof of the main theorem

Proposition 11.1. Let A be any finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra and $\mathfrak{A} \subseteq A$ an order (not necessarily regular). Suppose $K : \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{ex}} \to A$ is a localizing invariant with values in A (as in Equation 3.1). Then there is a fiber sequence

$$K(\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg}) \xrightarrow{g} K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}) \xrightarrow{h} K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$$

in A. Here the map g is induced from the exact functor sending a finitely generated right \mathfrak{A} -module to itself, equipped with the discrete topology. The map h is induced from the inclusion $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$.

Proof. (Step 1) We construct the following commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
K(\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg}) & \longrightarrow & K(\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}) & \longrightarrow & K(\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}/\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg}) & (11.1) \\
 & g \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow & & \downarrow & \\
 & & K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}) & \longrightarrow & K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) & \longrightarrow & K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}/\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg})
\end{array}$$

as follows: (a) We leave it to the reader to check that $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg}$ is left *s*-filtering in $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. This is indeed true for all associative unital rings, and amounts to showing that the image of each finitely generated right module is again finitely generated, as well as that every surjection onto a finitely generated module can be restricted to a surjection originating from a finitely generated submodule of the source. (b) Being left *s*-filtering, we get the exact sequence of exact categories

$$\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fq} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}} \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}/\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fq}.$$
 (11.2)

(c) By Proposition 7.1 we also know that compactly generated \mathfrak{A} -modules are left *s*-filtering in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Correspondingly, we get an exact sequence of exact categories

$$\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cq} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}} \twoheadrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}/\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cq}.$$
 (11.3)

Next, we construct a morphism from the sequence in Equation 11.2 to the one in Equation 11.3, given by exact functors. Firstly, $\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg} \to \operatorname{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$ just sends a finitely generated \mathfrak{A} -module to itself with the discrete topology. By Lemma 6.6 the underlying abelian group is then finitely generated, and thus indeed compactly generated as an LCA group. Since everything carries the discrete topology, we do not need to worry about continuity, and moreover the functor is clearly exact (in LCA a sequence of discrete groups is exact if and only it is exact plainly as abelian groups). Secondly, $\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}} \to \operatorname{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is defined the same way, just without the finite generation

condition. Thirdly, we get an exact functor induced to the quotient exact categories

$$\Phi: \mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}/\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fq} \longrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}/\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cq}.$$
(11.4)

It is exact by construction. Now, we apply the invariant K and arrive at Diagram 11.1 as desired. Both rows are fiber sequences by Schlichting's Localization Theorem, see [Bra18, Theorem 4.1].

(Step 2) Next, we claim that Φ is an exact equivalence of exact categories. The functor is essentially surjective: Given any G in LCA_A, Lemma 6.5 produces an exact sequence

$$V \oplus C \hookrightarrow G \xrightarrow{q} D$$
 in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$

with V a vector \mathfrak{A} -module, C compact and D discrete. We note that $V \oplus C$ is compactly generated, so in the quotient category $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}/\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$ the morphism q becomes an isomorphism. However, D clearly lies in the strict image of Φ since it is discrete. Next, since all modules in the strict image of the functor are discrete, there is no difference between continuous or just algebraic right \mathfrak{A} -module homomorphisms. In particular, since a discrete module in $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is compactly generated if and only if it is finitely generated as an abelian group, and thus by Lemma 6.6 if and only if it is finitely generated over \mathfrak{A} , we observe that the categorical quotients on the left and right in Equation 11.4 invert the same morphisms. Thus, Φ is fully faithful. Being exact, essentially surjective, and fully faithful, Φ is an exact equivalence of exact categories. It follows that $K(\Phi)$ is an equivalence in A. This shows that the right arrow in Diagram 11.1 is an equivalence and thus the left square is bi-Cartesian in A.

(Step 3) Next, $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is closed under countable coproducts, so $K(\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A}}) = 0$ by the Eilenberg swindle, [Bra18, Lemma 4.2]. Thus, the left bi-Cartesian square in Diagram 11.1 itself pins down a contraction, and the lower left three terms give a fiber sequence

$$K(\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg}) \xrightarrow{g} K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}) \longrightarrow K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}), \tag{11.5}$$

where g sends a finitely generated \mathfrak{A} -module to itself with the discrete topology. This is exactly the statement which we had claimed.

We are ready to prove the main result of the paper.

Theorem 11.2. Let A be any finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra and $\mathfrak{A} \subseteq A$ a regular order. Write $A_{\mathbb{R}} := A \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}$. Suppose $K : \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{ex}} \to A$ is a localizing invariant with values in A. Then there is a fiber sequence

$$K(\mathfrak{A}) \xrightarrow{i} K(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \xrightarrow{\jmath} K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$$

in A. The map i is induced from the exact functor $M \mapsto M \otimes_{\mathfrak{A}} A_{\mathbb{R}}$, and the map j is induced from the functor interpreting a finitely generated projective right $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ -module as its underlying LCA group (using the real vector space topology), along with the right action coming from $\mathfrak{A} \subset A_{\mathbb{R}}$.

Proof. (Step 1) As in [BurF01], we write PMod(R) for the exact category of finitely generated projective right *R*-modules. Note that $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ is a projective \mathfrak{A} -module (Lemma 5.2), and thus in particular flat over \mathfrak{A} . Hence, the tensor functor

$$\operatorname{PMod}(\mathfrak{A}) \to \operatorname{PMod}(A_{\mathbb{R}}), \qquad M \mapsto M \otimes_{\mathfrak{A}} A_{\mathbb{R}}$$

is indeed exact. Moreover, the output is a finitely generated $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ -module, but since A is semisimple over \mathbb{Q} , so is its base change $A_{\mathbb{R}}$. Hence, all modules are projective, so the functor really goes to $\text{PMod}(A_{\mathbb{R}})$. It follows that the morphism $K(\mathfrak{A}) \xrightarrow{i} K(A_{\mathbb{R}})$ exists. The inclusion $\text{PMod}(R) \subseteq \text{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg}$ is an exact functor, and the induced map

$$K(\mathfrak{A}) =_{\mathrm{def}} K(\mathrm{PMod}(\mathfrak{A})) \xrightarrow{\sim} K(\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg}) \tag{11.6}$$

is an equivalence. This can be seen as follows: By assumption \mathfrak{A} is a regular ring, i.e. every finitely generated right \mathfrak{A} -module admits a finite projective resolution. Thus, we may apply (the categorical dual of) [Kel96, Theorem 12.1]. The required Conditions C1, C2 *loc. cit.* are satisfied, see (the categorical dual of) [Kel96, Example 12.2] and $\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg}$ clearly has enough projectives. Invoking this theorem, we deduce that $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathsf{PMod}(\mathfrak{A})) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{D}^b(\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg})$ is a triangulated equivalence, and thus the functor induces an equivalence of stable ∞ -categories, [BluGT13, Corollary 5.11]. This confirms that the map in Equation 11.6 is indeed an equivalence. (Step 2) Next, we invoke Proposition 11.1 so that we have the fiber sequence

$$K(\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg}) \xrightarrow{g} K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}) \longrightarrow K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$$

in A. For the next step, we shall need an alternative description of g. For an exact category C, we write $\mathcal{E}C$ for the exact category of exact sequences, [Büh10, Exercise 3.9]. We set up a functor

$$p: \operatorname{PMod}(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$$
 (11.7)

by

$$M \mapsto [M \hookrightarrow M \otimes_{\mathfrak{A}} A_{\mathbb{R}} \twoheadrightarrow (M \otimes_{\mathfrak{A}} A_{\mathbb{R}})/M],$$

where (a) on the left M is regarded with the discrete topology, (b) $M \otimes_{\mathfrak{A}} A_{\mathbb{R}}$ is equipped with the locally compact topology coming from the finitedimensional real vector space structure, (c) $(M \otimes_{\mathfrak{A}} A_{\mathbb{R}})/M$ is equipped with the quotient topology making the sequence exact. The functor p is exact. To see this, observe that $\operatorname{PMod}(\mathfrak{A})$ is split exact, so the obvious additivity of the functor suffices for its exactness. We write $p_i : \operatorname{PMod}(\mathfrak{A}) \to \operatorname{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$ with i = 1, 2, 3 for the three individual functors to the left, middle resp. right term of the exact sequence. Note that for $M := \mathfrak{A}$, we have $p_1(M) \simeq \mathbb{Z}^n$ on the level of the underlying LCA group (see §3.1), moreover $p_2(M) \simeq \mathbb{R}^n$ and $p_3(M) \simeq \mathbb{T}^n$, and on the level of the underlying LCA groups the sequence p(M) is just $\mathbb{Z}^n \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}^n \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{T}^n$. Since every localizing invariant is also additive in the sense of [BluGT13], the exact functor p induces a relation among the

induced maps $p_{i*}: K(\mathfrak{A}) \to K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg})$, namely $p_{2*} = p_{1*} + p_{3*}$. The functor p_3 admits a factorization

$$p_3: \operatorname{PMod}(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{\mathsf{LCA}}_{\mathfrak{A},C} \longrightarrow \operatorname{\mathsf{LCA}}_{\mathfrak{A},cq},$$

with $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},C}$ being the full subcategory of compact modules (Definition 9.6), because we have just seen that p_3 maps every $M \in \mathsf{PMod}(\mathfrak{A})$ to a compact module. By the Eilenberg swindle, $K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},C}) = 0$, see [Bra18, Lemma 4.2]. Thus, p_{3*} must be the zero map. We conclude that $p_{1*} = p_{2*}$. The diagram

commutes, where the top horizontal map is the equivalence of Equation 11.6, and g is the map of Equation 11.5. Combining these two facts, we deduce that upon (equivalently) replacing $K(\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg})$ by $K(\mathfrak{A})$ in Equation 11.5, we obtain

$$K(\mathfrak{A}) \xrightarrow{p_2} K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}) \longrightarrow K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}).$$
 (11.8)

(Step 3) Using Proposition 10.1, we have $K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}) \xrightarrow{\sim} K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg})$, and by Proposition 9.9 moreover $K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R}C}) \xrightarrow{\sim} K(A_{\mathbb{R}})$. Combining both equivalences, we may replace the middle term of the sequence in Equation 11.8 by $K(A_{\mathbb{R}})$. Even better, note from the construction of the maps in the cited propositions that this equivalence stems from the inclusion of categories $\mathrm{PMod}(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \subseteq \mathrm{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$ (where each module $M \in \mathrm{PMod}(A_{\mathbb{R}})$ is regarded as equipped with the locally compact topology coming from its real vector space structure), and the image of the functor p_2 indeed lies in this subcategory, so we get a new fiber sequence

$$K(\mathfrak{A}) \xrightarrow{p_2} K(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \xrightarrow{j} K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}),$$

where the first map is still induced from the exact functor p_2 . Finally, note that the functor underlying p_2 is exactly the map i which we are discussing in the statement of the theorem, so this correctly identifies the first map. Similarly, the second map arises as the composition of $\text{PMod}(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \subseteq \text{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg}$ and the inclusion $\text{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},cg} \hookrightarrow \text{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$, see Equation 11.3, so we also see that the map j is exactly the one as we claim in the theorem. This finishes the proof.

We obtain the formulation of the introduction:

Theorem 11.3. Suppose that \mathfrak{A} is a regular order in a finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra A. Then there is a long exact sequence

$$\cdots \longrightarrow K_n(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow K_n(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \longrightarrow K_n(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) \longrightarrow K_{n-1}(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow \cdots,$$

and for all n, there are canonical isomorphisms

$$K_n(\mathsf{LCA}_\mathfrak{A}) \cong K_{n-1}(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R}).$$

Here $K_*(-)$ denotes ordinary (Quillen) algebraic K-theory.

Proof. We use that *non-connective* algebraic K-theory is a localizing invariant $\mathbb{K} : \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}^{ex} \to \operatorname{Sp}$ with values in spectra, [BluGT13]. Thus, Theorem 11.2 applies, and the long exact sequence of homotopy groups associated to the fiber sequence gives us a long exact sequence

$$\cdots \longrightarrow \mathbb{K}_n(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{K}_n(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{K}_n(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{K}_{n-1}(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow \cdots$$

of non-connective K-groups. Around degree zero it reads

$$\cdots \longrightarrow \mathbb{K}_0(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{K}_0(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{K}_0(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{K}_{-1}(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{K}_{-1}(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \longrightarrow \cdots$$

Since \mathfrak{A} and $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ are regular rings, their non-connective K-theory agrees with the ordinary K-theory, i.e. $\mathbb{K}_i(\mathfrak{A}) = K_i(\mathfrak{A})$ for all $i \geq 1$ anyway, they agree for K_0 by idempotent completeness (same for $A_{\mathbb{R}}$), and $\mathbb{K}_{-i}(\mathfrak{A}) = \mathbb{K}_{-i}(A_{\mathbb{R}}) = 0$ for all $i \geq 1$, [Sch06, Remark 7]. Observe that the exactness of the sequence then implies $\mathbb{K}_{-i}(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) = 0$ for $i \geq 1$. Next, the category $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ has all kernels, so it is idempotent complete. It follows that $\mathbb{K}_0(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) = K_0(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$, [Sch06, Remark 3]. Hence, all letters \mathbb{K} in the above sequence can be replaced by K without a change. We have proven the claim. \Box

With the tools which we have available, here is the best we can do at the moment regarding non-regular orders.

Theorem 11.4. Suppose \mathfrak{A} is an arbitrary order in a finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra A. Then there is a long exact sequence

 $\cdots \longrightarrow G_n(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow K_n(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \longrightarrow K_n(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) \longrightarrow G_{n-1}(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow \cdots,$

where $G_n(\mathfrak{A}) := K_n(\mathsf{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg})$ denotes the K-theory of the category of finitely generated right \mathfrak{A} -modules (this is often called "G-theory").

Proof. Use Proposition 11.1 for non-connective K-theory $\mathbb{K} : \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{ex}} \to \operatorname{Sp}$ as in the proof of Theorem 11.3. The argument that $\mathbb{K}_n(A_{\mathbb{R}}) = K_n(A_{\mathbb{R}})$ holds for all n is still valid since $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ is regular. Since $\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg}$ is a Noetherian abelian category, [Sch06, Theorem 7] shows that $\mathbb{K}_n(\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg}) = 0$ for all n < 0, and $\mathbb{K}_0(\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg}) = K_0(\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathfrak{A},fg})$ since the category is idempotent complete, [Sch06, Remark 3]. As in the proof of Theorem 11.3, we obtain $\mathbb{K}_n(\operatorname{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) = K_n(\operatorname{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}).$

12. Equivariant Haar measure

In this section we will supply some details regarding the interpretation of Haar measures as a determinant functor. For background on Picard groupoids we refer to [Del87, §4], [BurF01, §2.1] or [Bre11, §2]. We write **Picard** for the category of Picard groupoids, defined as in [JO12, 1.3. Definition].

12.1. Determinant functors. Let C be an exact category. Let C^{\times} denote its maximal inner groupoid, i.e. the category with the same objects but we only keep isomorphisms as morphisms.

Definition 12.1 ([Del87, §4.3]). Suppose (P, \otimes) is a Picard groupoid. A determinant functor on C is a functor

$$\mathcal{P}:\mathsf{C}^{\times}\longrightarrow\mathsf{P}$$

with the following extra structure and axioms:

(1) For every exact sequence $\Sigma: G' \hookrightarrow G \twoheadrightarrow G''$ in C we are given an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{P}(\Sigma): \mathcal{P}(G) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{P}(G') \underset{\mathsf{P}}{\otimes} \mathcal{P}(G'').$$
(12.1)

Moreover, this isomorphism is functorial in morphisms of exact sequences.

- (2) For every zero object Z in C we are given an isomorphism $z : \mathcal{P}(Z) \xrightarrow{\sim} 1_{\mathsf{P}}$ to the neutral object of the Picard groupoid. Henceforth, we simply write 0 for a zero object.
- (3) If $f: G \to G'$ is an isomorphism in C, write

$$\Sigma_l: 0 \hookrightarrow G \twoheadrightarrow G' \quad and \quad \Sigma_r: G \hookrightarrow G' \twoheadrightarrow 0$$

for the depicted exact sequences. We demand that

$$\mathcal{P}(G) \xrightarrow{\sim}_{\mathcal{P}(\Sigma_l)} \mathcal{P}(0) \underset{\mathsf{P}}{\otimes} \mathcal{P}(G') \xrightarrow{\sim}_{z \otimes \mathrm{id}} 1_{\mathsf{P}} \underset{\mathsf{P}}{\otimes} \mathcal{P}(G') \xrightarrow{\sim}_{\mathsf{P}} \mathcal{P}(G')$$
(12.2)

agrees with the map $\mathcal{P}(f) : \mathcal{P}(G) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{P}(G')$. Analogously, we demand that $\mathcal{P}(f^{-1})$ agrees with a variant of Equation 12.2 using Σ_r instead of Σ_l .

(4) If $G_1 \hookrightarrow G_2 \hookrightarrow G_3$ is given, we demand that the diagram

commutes.

12.2. Picard groupoids as spectra. Let us quickly recall that there are (at least) two different perspectives how to think about Picard groupoids. On the one hand, one can think of the algebraic definition in terms of a symmetric monoidal category as in [BurF01, §2], and on the other hand one can think of them as spectra whose possibly non-zero homotopy groups are confined to degrees 0 and 1. We denote the latter category by $Sp^{0,1}$, its objects are also known as "stable 1-types".

Theorem 12.2. There is an equivalence of homotopy categories

$$\Psi : \operatorname{Ho}(\mathsf{Picard}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Ho}(\mathsf{Sp}^{0,1}). \tag{12.3}$$

This correspondence preserves the notions of homotopy groups π_0, π_1 on either side.

Proofs are given in [Pat12, §5.1, Theorem 5.3] or [JO12, 1.5 Theorem], but this fact was known long before, certainly to Deligne and Drinfeld. Under this correspondence, the homotopy groups π_i for i = 0, 1 of a Picard groupoid (P, \otimes) which are discussed in Burns–Flach [BurF01, §2.1] match isomorphically with the homotopy groups of $\Psi(\mathsf{P}, \otimes)$ as a spectrum. Let us point out that the spectra in $\mathsf{Sp}^{0,1}$ can also be modelled alternatively as genuine spaces (even in the format of CW complexes) under a further equivalence between the homotopy categories of connective spectra with infinite loop spaces. We will not make use of this at all, but it gives the homotopy groups π_i a very concrete meaning. Nonetheless, it is typically futile to try to visualize the actual topology of such spaces.

Definition 12.3 (Deligne, [Del87, §4.2]). Suppose C is an exact category. The truncation $\tau_{\leq 1}K(C)$ of the connective K-theory spectrum, viewed as a Picard groupoid (via Equation 12.3), is called the Picard groupoid of virtual objects. We denote it by

$$V(\mathsf{C}) := \Psi^{-1}\left(\tau_{\leq 1}K(\mathsf{C})\right).$$

Remark 12.4. Picard groupoids can also be modelled in very different ways, e.g., the stable quadratic modules of Baues [MT07], see also [MTW15] for a broader discussion.

12.3. Universal determinant. Let us also recall a basic feature of K-theory. The following discussion depends a little on what definition the reader has in mind for K_1 . If R denotes a unital associative ring, the first K-theory group is most frequently defined using the formula

$$K_1(R) := \frac{\operatorname{GL}(R)}{[\operatorname{GL}(R), \operatorname{GL}(R)]},$$
(12.4)

i.e. K_1 is the abelianization of the group GL(R), which in turn is the group of matrices of arbitrary large rank, viewed as a compatible system by embedding rank $(n \times n)$ -matrices into $(n' \times n')$ -matrices for $n' \ge n$ as the top left minor and completing the diagonal by 1's, and all off-diagonal terms by 0's.

From this description one can attach to every finitely generated projective R-module $M \in \text{PMod}(R)$ along with an automorphism $f : M \xrightarrow{\sim} M$ an element of K_1 . If M is free, this is clear: Just pick an R-module isomorphism $\phi : M \simeq R^n$ for a suitable n; then along this isomorphism f becomes an element $\phi f \phi^{-1} \in \text{GL}_n(R) \subseteq \text{GL}(R)$, and thanks to the abelianization, the choice of the isomorphism ϕ was irrelevant. If M is projective, write M as a direct summand of a free module, say $M \oplus M' \simeq R^n$, and prolong

f as $f \oplus 1_{M'}$ to \mathbb{R}^n . Then proceed as before. This construction gives a well-defined map

$$\operatorname{Aut}(M) \longrightarrow K_1(R),$$

for any $M \in \text{PMod}(R)$. Of course, choosing M also gives a well-defined element in $K_0(R)$, namely the class [M] representing the module. Both of these constructions can be combined, giving a symmetric monoidal functor of Picard groupoids

$$\operatorname{PMod}(R)^{\times} \longrightarrow V(R) := V(\operatorname{PMod}(R)).$$

See also [BurF01, $\S2.5$].

Of course, other authors right away define $K_1(R)$ through generators and relations, where generators have the shape [M, f], which M being a finitely generated projective R-module and f an automorphism, e.g., [FK06, §1.1]. A more detailed discussion of the variants of these constructions can be found in Weibel [Wei13], Chapter III, Lemma 1.6 and Corollary 1.6.3.

A key insight due to Deligne is that the universal determinant functor of an exact category arises through its K-theory, and essentially just amounts to truncating the K-theory spectrum to degrees [0, 1]. For an arbitrary exact category C, one can set up a canonical symmetric monoidal functor

$$\mathsf{C}^{\times} \longrightarrow V(\mathsf{C}). \tag{(*)}$$

We have allowed ourselves the quick detour through projective R-modules and the explicit presentation of Equation 12.4 to motivate this construction in a fairly concrete case.

Remark 12.5. The construction of the functor in Equation * requires entering the simplicial details of the definition of K-theory. The K-theory of an exact category C is a special case of the K-theory of a Waldhausen category (take the admissible monics as the cofibrations and isomorphisms as weak equivalences). Waldhausen constructs a map

$$\left|\mathsf{C}^{\times}\right| \longrightarrow \Omega \left| (S_{\bullet}\mathsf{C})^{\times} \right| = K(\mathsf{C}),$$

where |-| denotes geometric realization, S_{\bullet} is Waldhausen's S-construction, and Ω is the loop space functor, see [Wal85, bottom of p. 329] or [Wei13, Chapter IV, Remark 8.3.2]. This induces a map to the truncation,

$$|\mathsf{C}^{\times}| \longrightarrow K(\mathsf{C}) \longrightarrow \tau_{\leq 1} K(\mathsf{C})$$

and under the identification of the spaces with Picard groupoids, this becomes the functor in Equation *.

The universality of $C^{\times} \to V(C)$ as a determinant functor now essentially reduces to the fact that the truncation $\tau_{\leq 1}$ is the universal operation having a stable [0, 1]-type as output.

Theorem 12.6 (Deligne). Suppose C is an exact category. Then the functor of Equation * is universal for all determinant functors: If $\mathcal{P} : C^{\times} \to P$ is any determinant functor, then it factors



where (*) is the morphism from C^{\times} to the virtual objects.

We refer to Deligne [Del87] for the proof.

Suppose A is an abelian group. The category of A-torsors is a Picard groupoid, denote it by Tors(A), see [BBE02, Appendix A.1] for background. In this situation

$$\pi_0(\operatorname{\mathsf{Tors}}(A)) = 0$$
 and $\pi_1(\operatorname{\mathsf{Tors}}(A)) = A.$

The other important Picard groupoid is the *determinant line* $\operatorname{Pic}_{R}^{\mathbb{Z}}$ for a commutative ring R. This formalism is developed by Knudsen and Mumford [KM76, Chapter 1]. In certain situations, this is universal:

Theorem 12.7 (Knudsen–Mumford, Deligne). Suppose R is (among other examples)

- a commutative local ring, or
- the ring of integers of a number field,

then the universal determinant functor of the category of finitely generated projective R-modules PMod(R) is equivalent to the determinant line,

$$\operatorname{PMod}(R) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}_{R}^{\mathbb{Z}}$$
$$M \longmapsto \left(\bigwedge^{\operatorname{top}} M, \operatorname{rk} M \right)$$

Although not relevant for our purposes, Knudsen and Mumford develop the determinant line right away not just for commutative rings, but for an arbitrary scheme.

The determinant line plays a fundamental rôle for the ETNC with commutative coefficients, in the works predating [BurF01].

With these preparations, we are ready to identify the Haar torsor as the universal determinant functor on the exact category LCA. We do not know who made this observation first. In a perhaps not truly proven state it seems to have been folklore for a while, but a complete proof probably only became possible with the work of Clausen [Cla17].

Theorem 12.8 (Universality of the Haar torsor). The Haar functor Ha: LCA[×] \rightarrow Tors($\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times}$) is the universal determinant functor of the category LCA. In particular, Deligne's Picard groupoid of virtual objects for LCA is isomorphic to the Picard groupoid of $\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times}$ -torsors.

Proof. Let det : $\mathsf{LCA}^{\times} \longrightarrow V(\mathsf{LCA})$ be the universal determinant functor in the sense of Deligne. Since Ha is a determinant functor (we checked this in §2), we obtain a canonical factorization $F: V(\mathsf{LCA}) \longrightarrow \mathsf{Tors}(\mathbb{R}^{\times}_{>0})$. Now, by using Clausen's computation of the K-theory of LCA [Cla17], there is a long exact sequence

$$K_1(\mathbb{Z}) \longrightarrow K_1(\mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow K_1(\mathsf{LCA}) \longrightarrow K_0(\mathbb{Z}) \longrightarrow K_0(\mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow K_0(\mathsf{LCA}) \longrightarrow 0.$$

While this result is originally due to Clausen, it of course also follows from our main result Theorem 11.3 in the special case of the order $\mathfrak{A} := \mathbb{Z}$ in $A := \mathbb{Q}$. Unravelling the terms, we obtain

$$\mathbb{Z}^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{\times} \longrightarrow K_1(\mathsf{LCA}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{1} \mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow K_0(\mathsf{LCA}) \longrightarrow 0, \qquad (12.5)$$

and therefore $K_0(\mathsf{LCA}) = 0$ and the absolute value isomorphism

$$K_1(\mathsf{LCA}) \cong \mathbb{R}^{\times} / \mathbb{Z}^{\times} \xrightarrow[]{abs} \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times}.$$

By Deligne's Theorem 12.6 the Picard groupoid of virtual objects is, when regarded as a spectrum, the truncation of $K(\mathsf{LCA})$ to a stable [0, 1]-type. Hence, on π_0, π_1 the functor F induces the maps

$$0 = \pi_0(V(\mathsf{LCA})) \longrightarrow \pi_0(\mathsf{Tors}(\mathbb{R}^{\times}_{>0})) = 0$$
$$\mathbb{R}^{\times}_{>0} = \pi_1(V(\mathsf{LCA})) \longrightarrow \pi_1(\mathsf{Tors}(\mathbb{R}^{\times}_{>0})) \cong \mathbb{R}^{\times}_{>0}$$

because the homotopy groups of $V(\mathsf{LCA})$ in degree 0, 1 then agree with the ones of $K(\mathsf{LCA})$. Since the construction of the modulus, see Equation 2.4, can be recast as the comparison of a trivialization of the torsor with the pullback of that trivialization along an automorphism, it follows that the map on the level of π_1 is an isomorphism. However, a map among stable [0, 1]-types, or equivalently a symmetric monoidal functor among Picard groupoids is an equivalence if it induces an isomorphism of π_0 and π_1 , [Pat12, Lemma 5.7]. Hence, F is an equivalence of Picard groupoids and via the isomorphism F,

$$\det: \mathsf{LCA}^{\times} \longrightarrow V(\mathsf{LCA}) \xrightarrow{\sim}_{F} \mathsf{Tors}(\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times}),$$

we identify the Haar functor as the universal determinant functor of LCA. $\hfill \square$

Theorem 12.9. Let \mathfrak{A} be a regular order in a finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra A. Then

$$\pi_0 V(\mathsf{LCA}_\mathfrak{A}) \cong K_{-1}(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R}) \pi_1 V(\mathsf{LCA}_\mathfrak{A}) \cong K_0(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R}),$$

and, stronger, the Picard groupoid of equivariant volumes $V(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$ is equivalent to the 1-truncation of the (-1)-shift of the fiber of the morphism $K(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow K(A_{\mathbb{R}}).$

Proof. The ring morphism $c : \mathfrak{A} \longrightarrow A_{\mathbb{R}}$, which plainly arises from tensoring $(-) \mapsto (-) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$, induces the relative *K*-theory fiber sequence

$$K(\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R})\longrightarrow K(\mathfrak{A}) \stackrel{c}{\longrightarrow} K(A_{\mathbb{R}}),$$

where $K(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R}) := \operatorname{hofib}(c : K(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow K(A_{\mathbb{R}}))$ is just defined as the homotopy fiber. This is equivalent to the conventions used in [BurF01]. By Theorem 11.2 it follows that there is an equivalence $K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) \longrightarrow \Sigma K(\mathfrak{A}, \mathbb{R})$, where Σ denotes the suspension. On the level of homotopy groups, this is a shift of degree by one, thus

$$K_i(\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R})\cong K_{i+1}(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$$

holds for all integers i.

13. Real and *p*-adic comparison

Let \mathfrak{A} be an arbitrary order in a finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra A. We recall that $A := \mathfrak{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$. As in [BurF01, §2.7], we define

$$A := A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z} = \mathfrak{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{A}_{fin},$$

where \mathbb{A}_{fin} denotes the *finite part* of the adèles \mathbb{A} of the rational number field \mathbb{Q} , i.e. the restricted product $\prod_{p}' (\mathbb{Q}_{p}, \mathbb{Z}_{p})$, where p only runs over the primes (excluding the infinite place). When we speak of \widehat{A} , we regard it with the locally compact topology coming from \mathbb{A} . In more detail: As an abelian group, we have $\mathfrak{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{A}_{fin} \stackrel{\phi}{\simeq} \mathbb{A}_{fin}^{n}$ for $n := \dim_{\mathbb{Q}} A$, and if we equip the right side with the standard topology of the adèles, then this induces a topology on the left side. This topology is independent of the choice of the isomorphism ϕ .

Theorem 13.1 (Reciprocity Law). Suppose \mathfrak{A} is an arbitrary order in a semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra A of finite dimension. Then the composition

$$K(A) \longrightarrow K(A \otimes \mathbb{A}) \longrightarrow K(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) \tag{13.1}$$

is zero.

- (1) The first arrow is induced from the exact functor $M \mapsto M \otimes_A \mathbb{A}$ of tensoring with the adèles of the rationals.
- (2) The second arrow is induced from mapping $A \otimes \mathbb{A}$ to itself, where now the tensor product is equipped with the locally compact topology induced from the adèles.

This is a non-commutative version of the reciprocity-like statements of [Cla17]. Note in the proof below that the essential bits of the proof are not so much arithmetic, but rather topological. However, of course arithmetic and topology are intertwined concepts when it comes to the adèles.

Proof. Recall that

$$\mathbb{Q} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{A} \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{A}/\mathbb{Q}$$

is an exact sequence in LCA, where \mathbb{Q} is embedded diagonally as a closed subgroup. The quotient \mathbb{A}/\mathbb{Q} is compact connected. We define three exact functors

$$f_i : \operatorname{PMod}(A) \longrightarrow \mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}$$
$$f_1(A) := A, \qquad f_2(A) := A \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{A}, \qquad f_3(A) := (A \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{A})/A,$$

where A in f_1 is equipped with the discrete topology, $A \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{A}$ in f_2 (which is $\simeq \mathbb{A}^n$ as an LCA group) with the natural topology of the adèles, and the values of f_3 with the quotient topology: Since $\mathbb{Q} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{A}$ is closed, $A \hookrightarrow$ $A \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{A}$ is also closed. It suffices that we have given the values of f_i for i = 1, 2, 3 only for A since A is a projective generator of the split exact category PMod(A), so in order to define an exact functor it suffices to specify its value on a projective generator. Since for every $W \in \text{PMod}(A)$ we obtain that $f_1(W) \hookrightarrow f_2(W) \twoheadrightarrow f_3(W)$ is exact in LCA₂, and functorially so, the Additivity Theorem implies that

$$f_{2*} = f_{1*} + f_{3*} : K(A) \longrightarrow K(\mathsf{LCA}_\mathfrak{A})$$

as maps of spectra (this is analogous to an idea in the proof of Theorem 11.2). As $f_{1*} = f_{3*} = 0$, because they factor over the fully exact subcategories $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},D}$ resp. $\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A},C}$ whose K-theory is contractible by [Bra18, Lemma 4.2], we deduce $f_{2*} = 0$. Finally, observe that the composition of the functors in the statement of our theorem literally give the functor f_2 , finishing the proof.

Example 13.2. Suppose F is a number field and $\mathfrak{A} := \mathcal{O}$ its ring of integers. Then the reciprocity law, Theorem 13.1, states that the composition

$$K(F) \longrightarrow K(\mathbb{A}_F) \longrightarrow K(\mathsf{LCA}_\mathcal{O})$$

is zero. In degree one, this becomes $F^{\times} \to K_1(\mathbb{A}_F) \to K_1(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathcal{O}})$ being the zero map. This is quite close to the statement that

$$F^{\times} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{A}_F^{\times} \twoheadrightarrow K_1(\mathsf{LCA}_F)$$

is an exact sequence, proven in joint work with Arndt in [ArB19]. These reciprocity statements are modelled after Clausen's ideas in [Cla17].

At the beginning of the paper we had discussed the difference between the real determinant line and the Haar torsor, and we had made some claims regarding their precise relation which so far we have not proved, and we fill this gap now.

Proposition 13.3. We compare the real/p-adic determinant line torsor with the Haar torsor in the non-equivariant setting:

(1) In Example 2.2 the map

$$\pi_1(\mathsf{Pic}^{\mathbb{Z}}_{\mathbb{R}}) \to \pi_1(V(\mathsf{LCA}))$$

is given by $\alpha \mapsto |\alpha|$, i.e. in degree one the Haar torsor differs from the graded real determinant line precisely by forgetting the sign.

(2) In Example 2.3 the map

$$\pi_1(\operatorname{Pic}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}^{\mathbb{Z}}) \longrightarrow \pi_1(V(\operatorname{LCA}))$$

is given by $\alpha \longmapsto |\alpha|_p$, i.e. in degree one the Haar torsor differs from the graded p-adic determinant line precisely by just keeping the p-adic valuation and nothing else (so it does not see the multiplication by any unit in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}).

(3) In both examples,

$$\pi_0(\mathsf{Pic}^{\mathbb{Z}}_-) \longrightarrow \pi_0(V(\mathsf{LCA}))$$

is the map $\mathbb{Z} \to 0$, i.e. the Haar torsor does not retain any information about the grading.

Proof. (1) The map in question is induced from the map of K-theory spectra $K(\mathbb{R}) \to K(\mathsf{LCA})$ upon truncation $\tau_{\leq 1}$ and Ψ^{-1} , so we just need to understand $K_1(\mathbb{R}) \to K_1(\mathsf{LCA})$. This map already appears in the proof of Theorem 12.8, namely in Equation 12.5 and our discussion ibid. showed that it agrees with the absolute value homomorphism. (2) This is a little trickier, but very beautiful (as we believe). We use the Reciprocity Law, Theorem 13.1, and prove this by a global-to-local argument. We only need the case $\mathfrak{A} := \mathbb{Z}$ and $A := \mathbb{Q}$. Then the Reciprocity Law in degree one tells us that the composition

$$a: K_1(\mathbb{Q}) \longrightarrow K_1(\mathbb{A}_{fin}) \oplus K_1(\mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow K_1(\mathsf{LCA})$$
 (13.2)

is zero. Clearly multiplication by $p, \mathbb{Q} \xrightarrow{\cdot p} \mathbb{Q}$, is an isomorphism, so it defines an element $[p] \in \mathbb{Q}^{\times} \cong K_1(\mathbb{Q})$. Multiplication by p also defines an isomorphism of the adèles in LCA,

$$\mathbb{A} \xrightarrow{\cdot p} \mathbb{A}, \qquad \left(\text{ or } \mathbb{A}_{fin} \oplus \mathbb{R} \xrightarrow{\cdot p} \mathbb{A}_{fin} \oplus \mathbb{R} \right)$$

and we can get this isomorphism by applying the functor underlying the map a in Equation 13.2, namely $a(\mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow[]{a(-p)}{\longrightarrow} a(\mathbb{Q})$. However, since a = 0 on the level of K-theory by the Reciprocity Law, the class $a([p]) \in K_1(\mathsf{LCA})$ is zero. Now, writing the adèles as a product

$$\mathbb{A} \simeq \mathbb{Q}_p \oplus \prod_{\ell \neq p, \infty}^{\prime} (\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, \mathbb{Z}_{\ell}) \oplus \mathbb{R}, \qquad (13.3)$$

where the restricted product runs over all places $\ell \notin \{p, \infty\}$, we also have the following: On each \mathbb{Q}_{ℓ} with $\ell \neq p$ and ℓ a finite place, we have $p \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ell}^{\times}$, so by the argument in Example 2.3 (applied for the prime ℓ) the multiplication by p automorphism induces the trivial class in $K_1(\mathsf{LCA})$. Since this applies

to all topological ℓ -torsion factors of $\prod_{\ell \neq p,\infty}' (\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, \mathbb{Z}_{\ell})$, the induced map of multiplication with p on K-theory on this object is zero. Further, on \mathbb{R} we know by part (1) of this proof that we get $p = |p| \in K_1(\mathsf{LCA})$, and on \mathbb{Q}_p we do not yet know what class in K_1 we get, but this is what we wanted to compute. We may call it $\beta \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times}$. However, since we know that on the entire adèles the K-theory class is the neutral element, we obtain by the additivity along direct sums in Equation 13.3 the identity

$$1 = |p| \cdot \beta \cdot 1$$

where β is the class of multiplication by p on \mathbb{Q}_p in $K_1(\mathsf{LCA})$; this corresponds to the multiplicativity of the modulus, Equation 2.2. We deduce from this equation that $\beta = p^{-1} = |p|_p$, i.e. the standard normalization of the *p*-adic absolute value of *p*. Next, for $x \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ by the argument in Example 2.3, this time applied for the prime *p* itself, such an *x* induces also the trivial class in *K*-theory. Since

$$\mathbb{Q}_p^{\times} \simeq \left\langle p^{\mathbb{Z}} \right\rangle \oplus \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times},$$

by multiplicativity, these computations describe the entire map

$$K_1(\mathbb{Q}_p) \longrightarrow K_1(\mathsf{LCA}),$$

and we see that it indeed agrees with the *p*-adic valuation. (3) In Equation 12.5 we had already seen that $K_0(\mathsf{LCA}) = 0$, so it can only be the zero map.

Remark 13.4. The reader will observe that the statement a = 0 in the previous proof is precisely the product formula

$$\prod_{v} |x|_{v} = 1 \quad \text{for} \quad x \in \mathbb{Q}^{\times},$$

(where v runs through all places), but here we do *not* get it from using the standard normalized definitions of absolute values, but rather by the topological properties of the adèles alone. These considerations work also for adèles of arbitrary number fields and can also be exploited in other degrees of K-theory to get the vanishing statements of reciprocity laws. See [Cla17], [ArB19].

Remark 13.5. Note that $K_0(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$ is usually not zero (this already happens for \mathfrak{A} being the ring of integers in a number field), so for the equivariant setting the vanishing statement $K_0(\mathsf{LCA}) = 0$ is misleading.

14. Lower bounds for the cardinality

Unrelated to whether they might find any application in the ETNC or not, we provide some general evidence showing that the higher K-groups of $LCA_{\mathfrak{A}}$

- and that is: the higher relative K-groups $K_n(\mathfrak{A},\mathbb{R})$ - are non-trivial.

Theorem 14.1. Suppose A is a non-zero finite-dimensional semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra and $\mathfrak{A} \subset A$ a regular order. Let \mathfrak{c} be the cardinal of the continuum, $\mathfrak{c} := |\mathbb{R}|$. Then

$$\dim K_n(\mathsf{LCA}_\mathfrak{A})\otimes \mathbb{Q}$$

satisfies the following lower bounds:

- (1) for $n \equiv 0 \pmod{4}$ and $n \ge 4$ and if $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ has a complex or quaternionic factor, it is at least \mathfrak{c} ;
- (2) for $n \equiv 1 \pmod{4}$ and $n \geq 1$, it is at least countable;
- (3) for $n \equiv 2 \pmod{4}$ and $n \geq 2$, it is at least \mathfrak{c} ;
- (4) for $n \equiv 3 \pmod{4}$ and $n \geq 3$ and if $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ has a complex or quaternionic factor, it is at least countable.

Indeed, for n = 1, dim $K_1(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ is also at least \mathfrak{c} . Meanwhile, the dimension dim $K_0(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ is finite.

For $\mathfrak{A} = \mathbb{Z}$, we have $K_0(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathbb{Z}}) = 0$, so this value need not be non-zero.

Proof. Firstly, by a result of Kuku, the groups $K_n(\mathfrak{A})$ are finitely generated for all $n \geq 0$, [Kuk86]. Consider the long exact sequence of Theorem 11.3,

$$\cdots \longrightarrow K_4(\mathsf{LCA}_\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow K_3(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow K_3(A_\mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow K_3(\mathsf{LCA}_\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow K_2(\mathfrak{A}) \longrightarrow \cdots$$

We immediately get our claim for n = 0, so from now on $n \ge 1$. The above sequence is exact in the abelian category of abelian groups Ab, but we may regard it in the quotient category Ab/Ab_{fg} modulo finitely generated abelian groups (this is a Serre subcategory). Then, using Kuku's result, we obtain isomorphisms

$$K_n(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} K_n(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}}) \qquad \text{in} \quad \mathsf{Ab}/\mathsf{Ab}_{fg} \qquad (14.1)$$

for all n. Note that since for $X \in Ab_{fg}$ we have dim $X_{\mathbb{Q}} < \infty$, the dimension of \mathbb{Q} -vector spaces in Ab/Ab_{fg} is well-defined as soon as it is at least countable. This will be the key argument throughout. Above, $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ factors into copies of matrix algebras over \mathbb{R} , \mathbb{C} , \mathbb{H} (by the classification of division algebras over the reals, [Lam91, Ch. 5, (13.12) Theorem], and the Artin–Wedderburn theorem, [Lam91, Ch. I, (3.5) Theorem]), so by Morita invariance

$$K_n(A_{\mathbb{R}}) \cong K_n(\mathbb{R})^{a_1} \oplus K_n(\mathbb{C})^{a_2} \oplus K_n(\mathbb{H})^{a_3}$$

for some a_1, a_2, a_3 , not all zero. Next, recall that there is a chain of inclusions

$$\mathbb{R} \subset \mathbb{C} \subset \mathbb{H}.$$
 (14.2)

(Step 0) We first handle the case n = 1. It is quite easy. For all entries X in Equation 14.2 we have morphisms $\mathbb{R}^{\times} \to K_1(X) \to \mathbb{R}^{\times}$ such that the composition is multiplication with a number: for the reals, take the identity, for the complex numbers the inclusion and the norm, for the quaternions the inclusion and the reduced norm. Thus, $\dim K_1(X)_{\mathbb{Q}} \ge \dim(\mathbb{R}^{\times} \otimes \mathbb{Q})$. However, $\dim_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R} = \mathfrak{c}$. The remaining proof deals with $n \ge 2$.

(Step a1) Suppose L/F is a finite field extension. By the existence of a

transfer (the norm), it follows that the kernel of $K_n(F) \to K_n(L)$ is killed by multiplication with the degree [L : F]. Thus, $K_n(F)_{\mathbb{Q}} \subseteq K_n(L)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ for all finite field extensions L/F. Writing an algebraic extension as the union of its finite subextensions, the same follows for every algebraic extension L/F. This argument also generalizes to the central simple algebra \mathbb{H}/\mathbb{R} by splitting it over the complex numbers and using the composition

$$K_n(\mathbb{R}) \to K_n(\mathbb{H}) \to K_n(M_2(\mathbb{C})) \xrightarrow{\sim} K_n(\mathbb{C}) \to K_n(\mathbb{R}),$$

where M_2 denotes the (2×2) -matrix algebra.

(Step a2) Let F/\mathbb{Q} be a field extension. Then there is a tower $\mathbb{Q} \subset \mathbb{Q}(t_I)_I \subset F$, where I is some set, $\mathbb{Q}(t_I)_I/\mathbb{Q}$ is purely transcendental and $F/\mathbb{Q}(t_I)_I$ is algebraic.

(Step b) Now, for every field F we have Milnor's exact sequence for algebraic K-theory,

$$0 \longrightarrow K_n(F) \longrightarrow K_n(F(t)) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{x \in (\mathbb{A}_F^1)_0} K_{n-1}(\kappa(x)) \longrightarrow 0, \qquad (14.3)$$

see [Wei13, Ch. V, Corollary 6.7.1]. Here $(\mathbb{A}_F^1)_0$ denotes the set of closed points of the affine line \mathbb{A}_F^1 over F; or equivalently all maximal ideals of the ring F[t]. Tensoring with \mathbb{Q} , taking the dimension and exploiting (a1), applied to each $\kappa(x)/F$ being algebraic, we obtain

$$\dim K_n(F(t))_{\mathbb{Q}} = \dim K_n(F)_{\mathbb{Q}} + \sum_{x \in (\mathbb{A}_F^1)_0} \dim K_{n-1}(\kappa(x))_{\mathbb{Q}}$$
$$\geq \dim K_n(F)_{\mathbb{Q}} + \sum_{x \in (\mathbb{A}_F^1)_0} \dim K_{n-1}(F)_{\mathbb{Q}}.$$

We shall use both the equality and inequality variant of this (we only really need the inequality, but we can see clearer what happens if we keep the equality in mind as well).

(Step c) Suppose $n \equiv 1 \pmod{4}$ and $n \geq 5$; the case n = 1 has already been dealt with in Step (0). Then for the real cyclotomic field $F_m := \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m + \zeta_m^{-1})$ we have dim $K_n(F_m)_{\mathbb{Q}} = [F_m : \mathbb{Q}]$ by Borel's rank computation, [Wei13, Ch. IV, Theorem 1.18]. Let m go to infinity (partially ordered by divisibility), combined with (a1), we deduce dim $K_n(\mathbb{Q}^{\text{sep}} \cap \mathbb{R})_{\mathbb{Q}} \geq \aleph_0$ as all F_m lie in $\mathbb{Q}^{\text{sep}} \cap \mathbb{R}$. It follows by (a2) that there is a tower $\mathbb{Q}^{\text{sep}} \cap \mathbb{R} \subset \mathbb{Q}(t_I)_I \subset \mathbb{R}$, where the first extension is purely transcendental and $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Q}(t_I)_I$ is algebraic (and possibly non-trivial). We have dim $K_{n-1}(\mathbb{Q}^{\text{sep}} \cap \mathbb{R})_{\mathbb{Q}} = 0$ by Borel's rank computation, [Wei13, Ch. IV, Theorem 1.18] (so, by this computation this follows for any finite subextension of $\mathbb{Q}^{\text{sep}} \cap \mathbb{R}$ over \mathbb{Q} , but since any possible non-trivial basis vector lies in some finite subextension, none such can exist). Hence, by the equality from (b), we get

$$\dim K_n(F(t))_{\mathbb{Q}} = \dim K_n(F)_{\mathbb{Q}} + 0 \tag{14.4}$$

where F is $\mathbb{Q}^{\text{sep}} \cap \mathbb{R}$, or (by transfinite induction) any purely transcendental extension thereof. Finally, by (a1) we obtain

$$\dim K_n(\mathbb{R})_{\mathbb{Q}} \ge \dim K_n(\mathbb{Q}(t_I)_I)_{\mathbb{Q}} = \dim K_n(\mathbb{Q}^{\operatorname{sep}} \cap \mathbb{R})_{\mathbb{Q}} \ge \aleph_0.$$

Since we have the chain in Equation 14.2, we obtain claim (2). (Step d) Suppose $n \equiv 3 \pmod{4}$ and $n \geq 3$. Then for the complex cyclotomic field $G_m := \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)$, *m* big enough, we have dim $K_n(G_m)_{\mathbb{Q}} = [G_m : \mathbb{Q}]/2$ by Borel's rank computation. Combined with (a1) we deduce

$$\dim K_n(\mathbb{Q}^{\mathrm{sep}})_{\mathbb{Q}} \ge \aleph_0$$

We proceed as in (c) and obtain dim $K_n(\mathbb{C})_{\mathbb{Q}} \geq \aleph_0$. This settles claim (4). (Step e) Suppose $n \equiv 2 \pmod{4}$ and $n \geq 2$. We apply (a2) to the extension \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Q} . Since $\operatorname{trdeg}_{\mathbb{Q}}(\mathbb{R}) = \mathfrak{c}$, it if follows by (a2) that there is a tower $\mathbb{Q} \subset \mathbb{Q}(t_I)_I \subset \mathbb{R}$, where the first extension is purely transcendental of degree \mathfrak{c} , and $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Q}(t_I)_I$ is algebraic (and possibly non-trivial). Let F be any purely transcendental extension of \mathbb{Q} . By (b) we have

$$\dim K_n(F(t))_{\mathbb{Q}} \ge \dim K_n(F)_{\mathbb{Q}} + \sum_{x \in (\mathbb{A}_F^1)_0} \dim K_{n-1}(F)_{\mathbb{Q}}.$$

and since $n - 1 \equiv 1 \pmod{4}$, we have

$$\dim K_{n-1}(F)_{\mathbb{Q}} \ge \dim K_{n-1}(\mathbb{Q})_{\mathbb{Q}} = 1,$$

where the first inequality holds since F will certainly contain \mathbb{Q} , and the latter follows from Borel's rank computations. Indeed, recall that this inequality comes from the Sequence 14.3. It is known to be split exact. Indeed, one can check that for the closed point x := F[t]/(t-1) (or any other F-rational closed point), the K-theory product

$$\omega := \{(t-1)\} \smile \alpha \qquad \text{in} \qquad K_1(F) \times K_{n-1}(F) \to K_n(F)$$

with $\alpha \in K_{n-1}(F)$ and using $\kappa(x) = F$, defines a class in $K_n(F(t))$ which lies in the direct complement of the inclusion of $K_n(F)$ from the left, see the proof of [Wei13, Ch. V, Corollary 6.7.2 and Lemma 6.7.3]. This follows since $\partial_x \omega = \alpha$ for the boundary map at x, while $\partial_x K_n(F) = 0$. Let α_i for $i \in I$ (of cardinality \mathfrak{c}) be such classes for each individual purely transcendental extension (Axiom of Choice). As each α_i contributes a dimension to $K_n(\mathbb{Q}(t_I)_I)_{\mathbb{Q}}$, we obtain dim $K_n(\mathbb{Q}(t_I)_I)_{\mathbb{Q}} \geq \mathfrak{c}$. As $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Q}(t_I)_I$ is algebraic, (a1) implies that dim $K_n(\mathbb{R})_{\mathbb{Q}} \geq \mathfrak{c}$. This settles claim (3).

(Step f) A similar argument works for $n \equiv 0 \pmod{4}$, $n \geq 4$, based on $n-1 \equiv 3 \pmod{4}$ then, and using (d) for this. Copying the argument from (e) then settles claim (1).

Remark 14.2. It is tempting to think of an abelian group A of cardinality \mathfrak{c} as huge and incomprehensible. However, we might just have $A \simeq \mathbb{R}$, a group nobody is afraid of. The question is whether it will be possible to equip these higher K-groups with such an interpretation or not. Certainly, the above style of proof is of no use in this respect.

14.1. Dreams.

14.1.1. Equivariant measure. As much as the term "equivariant Haar measure" and the surrounding picture is suggestive, we have only constructed the associated torsor, but not an actual formalism of a measure. For example, our torsor description tells us how to relate the equivariant measures on objects sitting in exact sequences $A \hookrightarrow B \twoheadrightarrow C$, where A is a subobject. By using translation-invariance as a guiding principle, one would like to believe that this can be extended to all cosets A + b with $b \in B$, too. An approach using classical K-theory is not possible since cosets like A + b for $b \neq 0$ are not subobjects. Perhaps Zakharevich's K-theory of assemblers [Zak17] could be the basic language for attacking these issues. More optimistically, there should be a form of a σ -algebra style calculus, where not just finite scissor operations are allowed, but also countable ones. It would be wonderful to have some formalism where computations in the style of Tate's thesis could exist. All of this, of course, is fairly utopic and speculative at the moment.

Nonetheless, in the non-equivariant situation, $\mathfrak{A} = \mathbb{Z}$ and $A_{\mathbb{R}} = \mathbb{R}$, the classical theory of the Haar measure has all these features, so *one* example exists. Clearly, such a conjectural theory would not be real-valued, and the glueing laws when taking the union or intersection of measurable subsets will involve homotopical structures, controlled by the symmetry constraint of the Picard groupoid $V(\mathsf{LCA}_{\mathfrak{A}})$ of Definition 2.4.

References

- [AnGH19] ANTIEAU, BENJAMIN; GEPNER, DAVID; HELLER, JEREMIAH. K-theoretic obstructions to bounded t-structures. Invent. Math. 216 (2019), no. 1, 241–300. MR3935042, Zbl 07051048, arXiv:1610.07207, doi: 10.1007/s00222-018-00847-0. 1127
- [Arm81] ARMACOST, DAVID L. The structure of locally compact abelian groups. Monographs and Textbooks in Pure and Applied Mathematics, 68. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, 1981. vii+154 pp. ISBN: 0-8247-1507-1. MR637201, Zbl 0509.22003. 1134, 1135
- [ArB19] ARNDT, PETER; BRAUNLING, OLIVER. On the automorphic side of the K-theoretic Artin symbol. Selecta Math. (N.S.) 25 (2019), no. 3, Art. 38, 47 pp. MR3954369, Zbl 07061096, arXiv:1803.00507, doi:10.1007/s00029-019-0485-8. 1168, 1170
- [AuG60] AUSLANDER, MAURICE; GOLDMAN, OSCAR. Maximal orders. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 97 (1960), 1–24. MR0117252, Zbl 0117.02506, doi: 10.2307/1993361. 1156
- [BBE02] BEILINSON, ALEXANDER; BLOCH, SPENCER; ESNAULT, HÉLÈNE. ε-factors for Gauss-Manin determinants. Mosc. Math. J. 2 (2002), no. 3, 477–532.
 MR1988970, Zbl 1061.14010, arXiv:math/0111277, doi:10.17323/1609-4514-2002-2-3-477-532. 1165
- [BloK90] BLOCH, SPENCER; KATO, KAZUYA. L-functions and Tamagawa numbers of motives. The Grothendieck Festschrift, I, 333–400, Progr. Math., 86. Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1990. MR1086888, Zbl 0768.14001. 1115

- [BluGT13] BLUMBERG, ANDREW J.; GEPNER, DAVID; TABUADA, GONÇALO. A universal characterization of higher algebraic K-theory. Geom. Topol. 17 (2013), no. 2, 733–838. MR3070515, Zbl 1267.19001, arXiv:1001.2282, doi: 10.2140/gt.2013.17.733. 1126, 1156, 1159, 1161
- [Bra18] BRAUNLING, OLIVER. K-theory of locally compact modules over rings of integers. *International Mathematics Research Notices IMRN* (2017). arXiv:1710.10819, doi:10.1093/imrn/rny083. 1125, 1129, 1130, 1139, 1142, 1144, 1145, 1149, 1150, 1151, 1152, 1153, 1158, 1160, 1168
- [BGW16] BRAUNLING, OLIVER; GROECHENIG, MICHAEL; WOLFSON, JESSE. Tate objects in exact categories. *Mosc. Math. J.* 16 (2016), no. 3, 433–504. MR3510209, Zbl 1386.18036, arXiv:1402.4969. 1144, 1147
- [BroM94] BROWN, RONALD; MUCUK, OSMAN. Covering groups of non-connected topological groups revisited. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 115 (1994), no. 1, 97–110. MR1253285, Zbl 0831.57001, arXiv:math/0009021, doi: 10.1017/S0305004100071942. 1134
- [BroS76] BROWN, RONALD; SPENCER, CHRISTOPHER B. G-groupoids, crossed modules and the fundamental groupoid of a topological group. Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A 79 (1976), no. 4, 296–302. MR0419643, Zbl 0333.55011, doi: 10.1016/1385-7258(76)90068-8. 1134
- [Büh10] BÜHLER, THEO. Exact categories. Expo. Math. 28 (2010), no. 1, 1–69.
 MR2606234 (2011e:18020), Zbl 1192.18007, doi: 10.1016/j.exmath.2009.04.004.
 1126, 1127, 1128, 1137, 1142, 1145, 1147, 1150, 1151, 1159
- [BurF01] BURNS, DAVID J.; FLACH, MATTHIAS. Tamagawa numbers for motives with (non-commutative) coefficients. Doc. Math. 6 (2001), 501–570. MR1884523, Zbl 1052.11077. 1113, 1116, 1159, 1161, 1162, 1163, 1164, 1165, 1167
- [Cla17] CLAUSEN, DUSTIN. A K-theoretic approach to Artin maps. Preprint, 2017. arXiv:1703.07842. 1113, 1114, 1121, 1125, 1165, 1166, 1167, 1168, 1170
- [CR90] CURTIS, CHARLES W.; REINER, IRVING. Methods of representation theory. I. With applications to finite groups and orders. Wiley Classics Library. A Wiley-Interscience Publication. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1990. xxiv+819 pp. ISBN: 0-471-52367-4. MR1038525, Zbl 0469.20001. 1156
- [Del87] DELIGNE, PIERRE R. Le déterminant de la cohomologie. Current trends in arithmetical algebraic geometry (Arcata, Calif., 1985), 93–177, Contemp. Math.,
 67. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1987. MR902592 (89b:32038), Zbl 0629.14008, doi: 10.1090/conm/067. 1115, 1118, 1161, 1162, 1163, 1165
- [dS96] DE SMIT, BART. Measure characteristics of complexes. Cahiers Topologie Géom. Différentielle Catég. 37 (1996), no. 1, 3–20. MR1383444, Zbl 0865.22004. 1117
- [FK06] FUKAYA, TAKAKO; KATO, KAZUYA. A formulation of conjectures on p-adic zeta functions in noncommutative Iwasawa theory. Proceedings of the St. Petersburg Mathematical Society. Vol. XII, 1–85, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, 219. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2006. MR2276851, Zbl 1238.11105, doi: 10.1090/trans2/219/01. 1164
- [Gra12] GRAYSON, DANIEL R. Algebraic K-theory via binary complexes. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 25 (2012), no. 4, 1149–1167. MR2947948, Zbl 1276.19003, doi: 10.1090/S0894-0347-2012-00743-7. 1123
- [GH81] GREENBERG, MARVIN J.; HARPER, JOHN R. Algebraic topology. A first course. Mathematics Lecture Note Series, 58. Benjamin/Cummings Publishing Co., Inc., Advanced Book Program, Reading, Mass., 1981. xi+311 pp. ISBN: 0-8053-3558-7; 0-8053-3557-9. MR643101, Zbl 0498.55001. 1133

- [HN98] HAVIN, VIKTOR P.; NIKOLSKI, NIKOLAI K.; DIRS. Commutative harmonic analysis. II. Group methods in commutative harmonic analysis. Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, 25. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1998. viii+325 pp. ISBN: 3-540-51998-X. MR1622489, Zbl 0892.00021, doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-58946-1. 1116, 1117
- [HS07] HOFFMANN, NORBERT; SPITZWECK, MARKUS. Homological algebra with locally compact abelian groups. Adv. Math. 212 (2007), no. 2, 504– 524. MR2329311 (2009d:22006), Zbl 1123.22002, arXiv:math/0510345, doi: 10.1016/j.aim.2006.09.019. 1118, 1127, 1128, 1129, 1145
- [Jat73] JATEGAONKAR, VASANTI A. Global dimension of triangular orders over a discrete valuation ring. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 38 (1973), 8–14. MR0309988, Zbl 0259.18016, doi: 10.2307/2038760. 1156
- [JO12] JOHNSON, NILES; OSORNO, ANGÉLICA M. Modeling stable one-types. Theory Appl. Categ. 26 (2012), no. 20, 520–537. MR2981952, Zbl 1252.18034, arXiv:1201.2686. 1161, 1163
- [Kel96] KELLER, BERNHARD. Derived categories and their uses. Handbook of algebra, Vol. 1, 671–701, Handb. Algebr., 1, Elsevier/North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1996.
 MR1421815 (98h:18013), Zbl 0862.18001, doi: 10.1016/S1570-7954(96)80023-4.
 1156, 1159
- [Knu02] KNUDSEN, FINN F. Determinant functors on exact categories and their extensions to categories of bounded complexes. *Michigan Math. J.* 50 (2002), no. 2, 407–444. MR1914072 (2003k:18015a), Zbl 1023.18012, doi: 10.1307/mmj/1028575741. 1115
- [KM76] KNUDSEN, FINN FAYE; MUMFORD, DAVID. The projectivity of the moduli space of stable curves. I. Preliminaries on "det" and "Div". Math. Scand. 39 (1976), no. 1, 19–55. MR0437541, Zbl 0343.14008, doi: 10.7146/math.scand.a-11642. 1116, 1165
- [Kuk86] KUKU, ADEREMI O. K_n, SK_n of integral group-rings and orders. Applications of algebraic K-theory to algebraic geometry and number theory, Part I, II (Boulder, Colo., 1983), 333-338, Contemp. Math., 55. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1986. MR862640, Zbl 0597.16021, doi: 10.1090/conm/055.1/862640. 1171
- [Lam91] LAM, TSIT-YUEN. A first course in noncommutative rings. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 131. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991. xvi+397 pp. ISBN: 0-387-97523-3. MR1125071 (92f:16001), Zbl 0728.16001, doi: 10.1007/978-1-4684-0406-7. 1171
- [Lam99] LAM, TSIT-YUEN. Lectures on modules and rings. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 189. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1999. xxiv+557 pp. ISBN: 0-387-98428-3. MR1653294 (99i:16001), Zbl 0911.16001, doi:10.1007/978-1-4612-0525-8. 1131, 1140
- [Lev73] LEVIN, MARTIN D. Locally compact modules. J. Algebra 24 (1973), 25–55.
 MR0310125, Zbl 0262.13006, doi: 10.1016/0021-8693(73)90151-8. 1142
- [Lur] LURIE, JACOB. Higher algebra. Preprint, 2017. http://www.math.harvard. edu/~lurie/papers/HA.pdf. 1126
- [Mor77] MORRIS, SIDNEY A. Pontryagin duality and the structure of locally compact abelian groups. London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, 29. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge-New York-Melbourne, 1977. viii+128 pp. MR0442141, Zbl 0446.22006, doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511600722. 1128, 1131, 1135, 1136, 1145, 1146, 1154
- [Mos67] MOSKOWITZ, MARTIN. Homological algebra in locally compact abelian groups. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **127** (1967), 361–404. MR0215016, Zbl 0149.26302, doi: 10.2307/1994421. 1128, 1129, 1132, 1135, 1138, 1143, 1144, 1145, 1146, 1147

- [MT07] MURO, FERNANDO; TONKS, ANDREW. The 1-type of a Waldhausen K-theory spectrum. Adv. Math. 216 (2007), no. 1, 178–211. MR2353254, Zbl 1125.19001, arXiv:math/0603544, doi: 10.1016/j.aim.2007.05.008. 1163
- [MTW15] MURO, FERNANDO; TONKS, ANDREW; WITTE, MALTE. On determinant functors and K-theory. Publ. Mat. 59 (2015), no. 1, 137–233. MR3302579, Zbl 1316.19002, arXiv:1006.5399, doi:10.5565/PUBLMAT_59115_07. 1163
- [Nen98] NENASHEV, ALEXANDER. K₁ by generators and relations. J. Pure Appl. Algebra 131 (1998), no. 2, 195–212. MR1637539, Zbl 0923.19001, doi: 10.1016/S0022-4049(97)00056-X. 1122, 1123
- [Pat12] PATEL, DEEPAM. de Rham ε -factors. Invent. Math. **190** (2012), no. 2, 299–355. MR2981817, Zbl 1275.14019, doi: 10.1007/s00222-012-0381-8. 1163, 1166
- [Sch06] SCHLICHTING, MARCO. Negative K-theory of derived categories. Math. Z. 253 (2006), no. 1, 97–134. MR2206639, Zbl 1090.19002, doi: 10.1007/s00209-005-0889-3. 1161
- [Sch99] SCHNEIDERS, JEAN-PIERRE. Quasi-abelian categories and sheaves. Mém. Soc. Math. Fr. (N.S.) (1999), no. 76, vi+134 pp. MR1779315 (2001i:18023), Zbl 0926.18004, doi: 10.24033/msmf.389. 1128
- [Tay54] TAYLOR, ROBERT L. Covering groups of nonconnected topological groups. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 5 (1954), 753–768. MR0087028, Zbl 0058.02103, doi: 10.2307/2031861. 1134
- [Wal85] WALDHAUSEN, FRIEDHELM. Algebraic K-theory of spaces. Algebraic and geometric topology (New Brunswick, N.J., 1983), 318–419, Lecture Notes in Math., 1126. Springer, Berlin, 1985. MR802796, Zbl 0579.18006, doi: 10.1007/BFb0074449. 1164
- [Wei13] WEIBEL, CHARLES A. The K-book. An introduction to algebraic K-theory. Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 145. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2013. xii+618 pp. ISBN: 978-0-8218-9132-2. MR3076731, Zbl 1273.19001, doi: 10.1090/gsm/145. 1123, 1164, 1172, 1173
- [Zak17] ZAKHAREVICH, INNA. The K-theory of assemblers. Adv. Math. 304 (2017), 1176–1218. MR3558230, Zbl 1355.19001, arXiv:1401.3712, doi: 10.1016/j.aim.2016.08.045. 1174

(Oliver Braunling) FREIBURG INSTITUTE FOR ADVANCED STUDIES (FRIAS), UNIVERSITY OF FREIBURG, D-79104 FREIBURG IM BREISGAU, GERMANY oliver.braeunling@math.uni-freiburg.de

This paper is available via http://nyjm.albany.edu/j/2019/25-48.html.